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2 MEMORIALS OF OLD LEICESTERSHIRE

non-Romanised Celtic people reasserted themselves strongly
in places, and the Celtic name of Caer Lerion was either
revived or given to Ratze. When the Teutonic peoples
gradually spread over the county, and when the Heptarchy
was formed, Mercia, which included Leicestershire, was
the central kingdom. By this time Christianity had spread
among the people, and Leicester, with Lichfield, became a
bishopric; later, about the year 737, it was made into a
separate See. Where the Church of St. Margaret now rises
was the site of the first cathedral, and the bishop’s resi-
dence is said to have stood where the vicarage is now.
The portions of land, called in old deeds ¢ Bishop’s Fee”
and ‘“ Bishop’s Farm,” are thought to date back to this
foundation of the See; for in the next century, when the
Danes took possession of the town, the bishopric was
transferred to Dorchester in Oxfordshire, and after the
Conquest Leicestershire was included in the diocese of Lin-
coln till it was joined to Peterborough in the nineteenth
century. In Leicester it is probable that the churches of
St. Martin and St. Nicholas were founded during this
period of Anglo-Saxon Christianity, and were on the site
of Roman buildings. Although no pre-Conquest building
remains, St. Nicholas contains portions of pre-Conquest
work in the north wall of the nave and some small windows
fashioned partly of Roman bricks. At Birstall, in the
north wall of the chancel, is a Saxon window, with remains
of a wooden midwall slab with apertures cut in a design of
interlaced circles.

The conquering Romans had come from the south, and
made roads and established order—the Pax Romana—as
they went. The Teutons had spread along the Roman
roads, which would still be in perfect condition for them;
but the next conquerors, the ravaging Norsemen, arrived in
the peaceful valleys of Leicestershire by water in boats.

So far as we know, the Danes established themselves in
large numbers in the northern and eastern counties before
making incursions into Leicestershire.
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But from about A.D. 850 bands of invaders, finding the
most fertile tracts in the neighbourhood of the North Sea
already occupied by their countrymen, were forced to go
further inland in order to obtain a settlement. Some of
these bands accordingly followed the course of the Trent
to the spot where it joins the Soar, and they found the
fertile valleys of that river and the Wreake suitable to their
requirements.

They increased so rapidly that in 874 they drove the
Mercian king Burhed from his throne and conferred thc
kingdom upon Ceolwulf; three years later taking the towns
of Leicester, Derby, Nottingham, Stamford, and Lincoln out
of his hands and forming them into a confederation known
as the Five Boroughs or the Danelaw.

The town of Leicester then remained. uninterruptedly
under Danish rule for a period of forty years.

The Danes stamped their nationality to so great an
extent on this district that in Domesday Book the county
divisions, called Hundreds through nearly the whole of
England, are in Leicestershire and four other counties
only, designated by the Scandinavian word “ Wapen-
take.”

The shire was called Leicester after the du#/ or strong
place. Itis uncertain whether or not the u7% was among
those founded or renewed by Edward and Ethelfleda.

Of Ethelfleda, “ Lady of the Mercians,” and daughter of
King Alfred, it is told by the Anglo-Saxon Chronicle that
“ with the aid of God, in the early part of the year (918),
she got into her power peacefully the dur% at Leicester,
and subdued to herself the largest part of the Danish army
that owned allegiance thereto ”; but she died almost directly
afterwards, and Leicester was again in Danish hands during
Athelstane’s reign.

Matthew of Westminster states that Onlaf of Norway
and Edmund, Athelstane’s successor, encountered each
other at Legecesterian, probably Leicester, and decided
after a drawn battle that Onlaf should possess the land
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north of Watling Street, and Edmund that on the south, the
survivor having the whole. Thus on Onlaf’s death in 941
all the five Danish boroughs came into Edmund’s possession.

The history of this period is obscure, as in one record
it is stated that Edmund is fighting against the Five
Boroughs in 942, and, in another, that Onlaf, coming down
to harass Mercia a year later, was besieged in Leicester
by Edmund, who proved victorious.

KZlfric, ealdorman of the Mercians, appears to have
encouraged a new invasion in 986, and Leicester fell by
turns into the hands of the contending parties, till in 1016
Canute became sole King of England.

The medizeval history of the shire was dominated by the
Norman nobles. Leicester itself was fortunate in having
as its masters a succession of powerful chiefs who were
able men of high character. When new officers, with
the title of Earls, were appointed to various divisions of
England, Leicester, in the reign of Edward the Confessor,
became the seat of an Earldom. Leofric, Earl of Coventry
and Leicester, with his wife, Lady Godiva, were at Leicester
Castle in 1051 for the purpose of witnessing the grant of
a charter for building and endowing the monastery at
Spalding. Their grandson, Edwin, was slain fighting
against William of Normandy, who had in 1068 captured
Leicester. Most of the ownership of the town was then
apportioned between the King, and Hugh de Grentemesnil,
whe was appointed governor of Leicester and sheriff of
the shire, in which he held sixty-seven manors.

Amongst the favours bestowed on Hugh were the
Honour or Barony of Hinckley and the Lord Stewardship
of England (which was at that time made hereditary), to be
held together.!

! Nichols gives that *the king richly married him to Adeliza, a great
inheritrix of a noble family, and at the solemnisation thereof bestowed on him
the honourable office of Lord High Steward of England.” On the other hand
Orderic observes that his wife was Adelaide, daughter of Ivo de Beaumont:
who was very handsome, and that Hugh had to return to Normandy in 1068,
in order, it is said, to prevent her getting into mischief !
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Amongst the Domesday tenants-in-chief were Robert de
Todeni, who built Belvoir Castle (to be succeeded in the
next century by de Albini); Geoffrey de “ Wirce,” said
by Orderic to surpass all the magnates of the realm and
nearly all his own kinsfolk in wealth and power; the
Count of Meulan; Robert Dispensator (to be succeeded
later by a Beauchamp, a Marmion, and a Tuchet) ; Geoffrey
de la Guerche, whose possessions came into the hands of
the de Mowbrays of Melton; Henry de Ferrers; Robert
de Busci, who next century had given place to a Basset of
Sapcote.

Hugh de Grentemesnil built a castle in Leicester?® in
the Norman fashion, and by means of his garrison imposed
the foreign yoke on the county.

There is considerable doubt as to whether or not
Leicester was destroyed when it passed into the hands of
the Conqueror. The record in Domesday of 322 houses,
6 churches, and 2 mills with only 64 burgesses seems to
point to a destruction of inhabitants having taken place.
Mr. J. H. Round, on the other hand, arrives at the con-
clusion that, ““as it happens, we can not only discredit the
suggested ‘destruction’ in the days of the Conqueror; we
can actually fix its date as the reign of Henry 1”2 (1101),
when Ivo de Grentemesnil, who had succeeded his father

! Other castles were built after the Conquest and in succeeding years. In
the reign of John there were standing in the county eleven fortified castles,
which were probably Leicester, Belvoir, Mountsorrel, Sauvy; Hinckley,
built by Hugh de Grentemesnil, where he also enclosed a park and caused a
parish church to be built ; Whitwick and Earl Shilton, founded by Robert
Earl of Leicester, probably le Bossu; Thorpe Arnold by Ernald de Bois;
Melton by Roger Mowbray ; Donington, built by Eustace, Baron of Haulton;
and Segrave; Sapcote may also have had a castle or only a moated
house. Burton is no doubt correct in writing : “ Most of these castles, during
the unquiet reigns of King Henry II., King John, and King Henry IIL, being
held by rebellious barons, were by command of the last king utterly de-
molished, and though some of them were afterwards rebuilt, yet at this
day (1622) there is not one remaining entire, and even most of them are
entirely defaced.” At the present time, besides those mentioned on other
pages, there remains the sites only of Earl Shilton, Groby, Hinckley, and
‘Whitwick.

2 Feudal England.
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Hugh as the King’s reeve and representative, took part in
the rebellion against the King and waged war against his
neighbours. Ivo has the evil reputation of being the first
person to introduce private warfare into England. He was
tried and condemned as a leading rebel.

After Ivo’s condemnation, Robert de Beaumont, Count of
Meulan, who had already great possessions in the county,
advanced him the means to take a pilgrimage in return for
the pledge of part of his Leicestershire fiefs, which he after-
wards refused to return.! Beaumont ‘‘is distinctly stated by
Orderic to have been created Earl of Leicester (‘ inde consul
in Anglia factus’). But of this the Lords Committee ¢ found
no evidence.” Nor does he appear to have been so styled,
though he possessed the fertius denarius, and though that
dignity devolved upon his son.’ 2

Henry of Huntingdon writes of Robert de Beaumont that
he was a man of great ability and importance, “in worldly
affairs the wisest man betwixt England and Jerusalem,”
and also relates that when urged on his death-bed to make
restitution of some of his unjustly acquired lands, Beaumont
answered that he would leave them to his sons, that they
might provide for his salvation !

Count Robert certainly built a Church of St. Mary de
Castro and founded for it a college of secular canons ; whether
it was finished by his son or rebuilt after the siege of 1173
is unknown, but the beautiful and rare Norman sedilia still
preserved to us are late work of that style. To him in all
probability is also due the splendid hall of the castle; it
was not attached to the mount or keep, and so would not
necessarily have been injured by the King’s command of
destruction in 1174. It is thought that to Count Robert’s
good government was due, among other useful works, the
original West Bridge.

! Ivo had a son, Hugh, who regained some of his father’s possessions,
including the Honour of Hinckley and the High Stewardship, which later
passed by inheritance to the Earls of Leicester, through the marriage of his
daughter Petronilla or Pernelle to Robert Blanchesmains.

2 Mr. J. H. Round in Dictionary of National Biography.
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The son and successor of the first Beaumont lord was
Robert le Bossu. He carried out his father’s dying sugges-
tion, and did much to encourage the growing movement of
Monasticism by various religious foundations, of which the
most notable were those in Leicestershire—the Cistercian
Monastery of Garendon, and the Abbey of St. Mary de
Pratis for Augustinian Canons outside the town of Leicester.
The Abbey, starting with Beaumont’s rich endowment,
became a powerful community, but now is possibly best
remembered as the last rvesting-place which the dying
Cardinal Wolsey sought, on his way as a prisoner to
London.!

The next Earl, Robert Blanchesmains, succeeded his
father in 1168, and was so ill advised as to join in the
feudal rising that championed the cause of Prince Henry
against Henry II., who sent Richard de Lucy with an army
against Leicester. The town was taken, and burnt in July
1173. It was not till a year later that the Earl's besieged
castellan of the castle, Anquetil de Mallory, broke out and
ravaged the country, and Henry ordered the confiscation
of his castles of Leicester, Groby, and Mountsorrel. The
two first-named were destroyed; but though the imprisoned
Earl was set at liberty, it was not till 1177 that he had his
honours and castles (except Mountsorrel) returned to him.
He was then completely reinstated in kingly favour, and
after his death abroad on his way home from a pilgrimage,
Richard I. invested his son Robert Fitz-Parnel with the

1 Of the actual Abbey there is now nothing to be traced, though the site
is marked by the remains of the Cavendish mansion ; the boundary, however,
in Abbey Lane is doubtless part of Abbot Penny’s (1496-1508) “bricke
walles” recorded by Leland.

Amongst other monastic foundations of the twelfth century were Croxton
of the Premonstratensian Order, Osvelston, Bredon, and Launde, all of the
Black Canons of St. Augustine, Langley Nunnery, and the Commanderies
of Old Dalby and Rothley of the Knights Templars. Also the Leper Hos-
pital of Burton Lazars, the chief of all the lazar houses in England, and
subject only to the great house at Jerusalem. It was built by a general
collection throughout England, the principal contributor being Roger de
Mowbray of Melton. A spring of repute was the cause of the foundation at
Burton, which so late as the eighteenth century, when the mania for mineral
waters was at a great height, was utilised as a bath and drinking-well.



8 MEMORIALS OF OLD LEICESTERSHIRE

Earldom of Leicester. This Fitz-Parnel, with his royal
master, took a distinguished part in foreign wars, without
doubt greatly to the impoverishment of his estates. It was
the heraldic coat of Fitz-Parnel Earl of Leicester (gules, a
cinquefoil ezmine) that became the arms of Leicester town.
By the time John came to reign, the town had recovered
its population and received more than one royal charter
at the hands of the ‘ Chartermonger” King, and during the
same reign Leicester was the scene of a meeting of the
barons, the first open expression of their hostility to their
sovereign, which afterwards culminated in the defiance at
Runnymede. John, who was a great wanderer, is not known
to have stayed in the town, but is recorded as sleeping at
Bosworth, Mountsorrel, and Melton, among other places.
Early in the thirteenth century (1204) Robert Fitz-
Parnel died abroad, childless, when the great inheritance
of the last Beaumont passed to his sister Amicia’s son,
Simon de Montfort. Although recognised by John as Ear]
of Leicester, he had to pay the penalty of having entered on
his French inheritance by losing his English estates, which
John confiscated in 1207, and only yielded the honour of
Leicester into the hands of Ralf, Earl of Chester, nephew
of Simon, in 1215, for ‘‘the benefit of the said Simon,”
to gain reconciliation with the Pope. De Montfort had by
this time practically become master of southern France
by his skill in the Crusade against the Albigenses, and
was therefore high in the Pope’s favour. He was killed at
Toulouse 1218, and was never in England. It remained
for his third son Simon to regain his English patrimony.
Having displeased the Queen of France about 1229, he
accepted his elder brother’s suggestion to give up to him
his share of the continental inheritance in exchange for a
problematical success in England. ¢ Hereupon,” he says
himself, “I went to England and besought my lord the
King that he would restore my father’s heritage unto me.”?

! Bibl. Nat. Clairembault, 1188, fol. 80 ; quoted in Simon de Montfort,
Charles Bémont.
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But it was not till 1230, after some efforts, that “the
King received my homage and gave me back my lands.”
Amongst the causes in his favour not the least seem to
have been the kindness and generosity of the Earl of
Chester (who was ready to give back to Simon his estates
that Henry had given meanwhile to Chester), and doubtless
also Simon’s own gallant bearing, that was to captivate later
on no less a personage than the King’s sister Alianor
(widow of the Earl of Pembroke), who became his wife.
It was not till after a renunciation from his brother in 1239
that Simon became undisputed Earl of Leicester.! In the
meantime the heirs of Amicia’s younger sister had obtained
a large share of the Leicester property, and what remained
to him Simon declared had suffered so much destruction
of wood and other great damages done by divers people
to whom the King had given it in charge, ‘“that it was
inadequate to support the dignity of an Earl” Some relief
was granted by Henry IIl in 1232 by means of a licence
to keep in Simon’s own hands any escheats of land held by
Normans of his fee in England.

A prince among administrators, a strong man marvel-
lously versatile, great alike in war and peace, great in faith
and love of justice, his government of the town and of his
estates was without doubt wise and good, for he earned the
sobriquet of “Simon the Righteous.””? In private life he
was noted for his simplicity, piety, and culture; three
of his friends and counsellors were Walter de Cantelupe,

! Simon had styled himself Earl of Leicester since 1231, and had claimed
at the King's marriage in 1236 to fulfil his hereditary functions of High
Steward.

2 In spite of prohibitions from Pope and King, Simon was worshipped asa
saint for many years by the vulgar. A liturgy was composed in his honour,
and worship was offered to him. A portion of one of the hymns has come
down to us. It begins :—

¢ Simon de Montfort, hail, all hail !
Hail knighthood’s flower and grace,
Who, suffering, entered death’s dark vale,
Protector of the English race.”

He had been the especial friend of those powerless to protect themselves.
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Bishop of Worcester, the great and just administrator;
Robert Grossetete, the famous Bishop of Lincoln, who at
one time held the living of St. Margaret’s, in Leicester;
and Adam de Marisco, a learned Franciscan, whom, with
Grossetete, Roger Bacon repeatedly describes as * perfect
in all wisdom,” and ‘‘the greatest clerks in the world.”
Grossetete and Earl Simon both favoured the Franciscans,
and to the latter was due the encouragement of settlements
of the Friars that did much in the thirteenth century to
raise the standard of life and religion.}

The public career of Simon de Montfort belongs to the
history of England.

After his death on the battlefield at Evesham (1265)
his title and estates were forfeit to the King, whose son,
Edward 1., afterwards (1274) granted them to his brother,
Edmund Plantagenet, who already was Earl of Lancaster,
under which title Leicester then became merged, and its
castle became an occasional place of residence of a great
Prince. The first Lancastrian ruler is remembered by the
town for his ordering the hall of his castle as the place for
the newly-appointed itinerant Judges to hold their Court of
Justice. It was no doubt also owing to his influence that
Leicester obtained the * Great Charter’’ in 1278.

Thomas, the second Plantagenet Earl, who succeeded
his father in 1299, was a noble of high importance but
with small personal connection with his Leicestershire pro-
perty. During his tenure there were several royal visits
to Leicester, not the least imposing of which must have
been the great assembly of barons (1318) before which
the Earl, at the head of 18,000 men, met Edward II. and
his Queen and two Cardinal Legates with their retinue at
“Syroches Bridge,” which now, says Henry of Knighton,
is called “ Cotes Brige” (probably Cotes on the banks of the

! De Montfort founded in Leicester the Friary of the Dominicans at
St. Clement’s, Le Black Freears in le Askes, as there were at that time ash-
trees growing on the spot ; and the Franciscans or Grey Friars had a priory
on the south side of St. Martin’s Church.
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Soar near Prestwold), where salutations were exchanged
between them in apparently the most cordial manner.
During the King’s visit a great assembly was held at
Leicester.

The following years were onerous ones in the county,
when the Earl was calling on the services of his men-at-
arms in his struggles with the King, so that it cannot have
been an unmixed disaster when the end was put in 1322
to Thomas's life! His brother Henry, distinguished by the
sobriquet of de Zorto Collo—Wry-neck—put up a cross
outside the town of Leicester on behalf of Thomas's soul.
He was restored to the Earldom of Leicester and High
Stewardship of England in 1324, but it was not till 1330
that he obtained the reversal of his brother’s attainder
and was confirmed in all the great possessions of Robert
de Ferrers and Simon de Montfort that had been granted to
his father. Henry of Lancaster, who was a man of high
character and sound judgment, was made guardian of the
young King, Edward III., but found himself with no power,
owing to the conduct of the Queen-dowager and her
favourite Mortimer. This put him in opposition to the
King, and caused the Royal army to enter Leicester, 1329,
and lay waste the surrounding country.

By the time of the reversal of Earl Thomas's attainder,
Earl Henry's blindness forced him to retire from active life,
and he decided to live in his castle of Leicester, which he
enlarged and improved the better to befit the great state he
kept up and the princely entertainments he dispensed.

Outside the castle he built and endowed the Trinity
or Bede House Hospital,> and a church dedicated to the

1 It is curious that Earl Thomas was the second Earl of Leicester who
became a popular saint. Many miracles were reported as wrought at the
tomb of St. Thomas of Lancaster.

2 Trinity Hospital was altered in the time of George III. and demolished
altogether in the latter end of the nineteenth century, which period was
responsible for much destruction in Leicester. The chapel with some of its
fittings was spared.

The beautiful Collegiate Church of Our Lady perished at the Reformation,
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Annunciation of the Blessed Virgin Mary, both within
fortified walls called the New Worke. The ‘“Magazine"
gateway of the Newarke now remaining is possibly of fifty
years’ later date, and belongs to the additions carried out
by John of Gaunt.

In 1345 Earl Henry died, and was buried by the high
altar of the church of his Hospital. He was succeeded
by his son, who became a still greater personage than his
father and known in Leicester as the “good Duke.”

A gallant and distinguished soldier and statesman,
“ Henry of Lancaster” was esteemed throughout Europe
as a perfect knight; he was brave, courteous, charitable,
just, and at once magnificent and personally temperate in
his habits. He bad a thorough knowledge of public affairs,
was a wise counsellor, and was loved and trusted by
Edward IIl. beyond any other of his lords. Like his
father, Earl Henry, he was religious, and during his last
days is said to have been much given to prayer and good
works, and to have written a book of devotions called
Mercy Gramercy.t

The dukedom of Lancaster was conferred on him in
135%, four years after he had been made one of the
original Knights of the Order of the Garter.

To the Church of Our Lady in the Newarke he added
a college with a Dean and Canons, ‘“Collegium novi-operis,”
and here he was buried by the side of the altar, with great
ceremony, in the presence of the King and his Court, having
survived the endless battles in which he took part to suc-
cumb to the plague that devastated England in 1361.

The death of the ‘good Duke” must have entailed
for some little time the dispersion of the great household
and an untenanted castle. The Leicestershire property
passed to his elder daughter, called Maud or Matilda,
the Duchess of Zealand, who came over to England to
claim her estates, and fell a victim, like her father, to the

Y Dictionary of National Biography.
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pestilence. Thus the whole inheritance fell to the younger
daughter, Blanche, wife of John of Gaunt, who was already
rising into power, that by right of his wife was destined to
be so largely augmented. He became Earl of Lancaster,
Derby, Lincoln, and Leicester, and High Steward of Eng-
land. In November 1362 he was created Duke of Lan-
caster, and invested with the Duchy by his father, the
King, who girded him with a sword and set on his head
a cap of fur with a circlet of gold and pearls. During the
next few years John of Gaunt remained in England, and
both he and his wife visited their domains.

He was, however, absent in Picardy when Blanche died
of the plague, seven years after it had carried off her sister;
and all England mourned at the same time for the deaths of
the two noble women—Queen Philippa and the Duchess of
Lancaster. Chaucer, in the “Book of the Duchess,” has
celebrated John of Gaunt’s love story and the graces of
his wife :—

* When that thou toke my lady swete ?
That was so fayr, so fresh, so free,

So good, that men may wel (y)-see
Of al goodnesse she had no mete ! ”

Blanche presumably died at Leicester, and (like her hus-
band in years to come) was buried in St. Paul’s Cathedral,
whither their bodies were severally taken by regal pro-
gresses, with ceremonial services at the halting-places.
She left an only son, destined to reign as Henry IV,

John of Gaunt continued to make occasional stays
at Leicester, and at the castle was signed, on the 3rd of
February 1398, his famous will. Exactly a year later, in
the same place, he died, worn out and broken down.! His

! ¢ De gravi languore moritur.”—ZEulog. 381.

If the Duke had died at Ely House, Holborn, as some of the chronicles
state, it would not have been necessary for his body to pass through St.
Albans on the way to Fleet Street.

The true tradition has been preserved by Higden (viii. 506) and Otter-
bourne (197).—C. F. Froissart, K. de L., xvi. 137-141 ; Sidney Armitage-
Smith, jokn of Gaunt.

As there has been some doubt if John of Gaunt did die at Leicester, I
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body, at his expressed wish, was taken to the church of
his favourite Order, the Carmelites in Fleet Street, before
interment at St. Paul's: ‘“juxte ma treschere jadys com-
paigne Blanch illeog’s enterre.”

As administrator of his estates, the Duke of Lancaster
was probably a just overlord. He was kind and charitable
to the poor, and would appear to have been popular amongst
his own people what time he was not always so in other
parts. It was owing to him that Wycliffe was brought into
the county and converted it to a centre of Lollardism. From
the living of Lutterworth for the last ten years of his life,
1374-84, John Wiycliffe ceased not to promulgate his ideas
by preaching, agitating, writing, and stirring up others to
crusade in like manner.

It was a strange alliance, that of Lancaster and Wycliffe.
They were practically only agreed on one point—the humilia-
tion of the prelates. The reason for this alliance is well
summed up as follows: ‘Lancaster, feudal to the core, re-
sented the official arrogance of the prelates and the large
share which they drew to themselves of the temporal power.
Wycliffe dreamt of restoring, by apostolical poverty, its
long-lost apostolical purity to the clergy. From points so
opposite and with aims so contradictory were they united to
reduce the wealth and humble the pride of the English
hierarchy.”? On Wycliffe’s part he believed that in John

am indebted to Mr. Armitage-Smith for the following further note of
additional evidence :—

“The Duke was at Leicester Castle on
24 Oct. 1398, see Rot. Pat., vi. 496

4 Nov. ,, ibid. 494

24 DCC. ”” ” EL) 569

28 Dec. ,, X 524
2 Jan. 1399 ,, 3 489 and 500,
4 Jan~ 1 1 " 569

23Jan. ,, % 478

It is probable that the Duke never left Leicester Castle after his arrival
there from Pomfret on 24 Oct. 1398 ; and it is practically certain that he could
not have left it after 23 Jan., z.e. eleven days before he died.”

1 Introduction to Fasciculi Zizaniorum Magistri jJ. Wyclife. W. W.
Shirley. Rolls Series.
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of Gaunt he had found a man who not only had the power,
but also the inclination, to reform the abuses of this time.

Two of Wycliffe's “ poor priests or scholars” that he
sent out as missionaries—Leicestershire men—Smith, a
layman, and Waytestaff, a priest, stirred crowds of listeners
by the Belgrave Gate at Leicester, within sight of the
Abbey, but they overreached themselves by their great
profanity, and were banished from the place.

More successful was William Swynderby, who lived in
the woods outside the town, whence he came to preach
vigorously against the abuses of the day in the churches
of St. Martin and St. Margaret. In the county he went to
various villages, so that after he recanted his doctrines on
being cited to appear before the Bishop at Lincoln, he had
to publicly disown them in the two churches above men-
tioned, and St. Mary of the Newarke in Leicester, and in
those of Melton, Hallaton, Harborough, and Loughborough.

After Wycliffe's death one of his great disciples was
John Purvey, who had been his colleague at Lutterworth,
and a co-translator of the Bible. This translation was the
most lasting product of Wycliffe’s life, and gives him just
claim to the title of ‘‘ Father of English Prose” ; for it is
owing to this work, which was largely done in the little
vicarage of Lutterworth, that his fame has come down
through the ages. Great as had been his influence, not
only in Leicestershire, but throughout England, and great
as was the zeal of his picturesque russet-clad preachers,?
it is doubtful if the movement influenced the Reformation
beyond the fact of facilitating the reading of the Bible,
Lollardry continued to grow for some years till vigorous
persecution set in, when, amongst other dark deeds, not the
least was the desecration of Wycliffe’s bones; they were
exhumed, burnt, and the ashes thrown into the stream
at Lutterworth. Woycliffe’'s most influential convert was
Queen Anne of Bohemia, who with Richard II. was

1 Their robes were most probably made of Leicestershire ‘* russet ” wool.
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more than once in the county with Lord Beaumont at
Beaumanor.

The duchy of Lancaster having become merged in the
Crown, there is no further record of Leicester Castle serv-
ing as a continuous residence, after the early days of
Henry IV.’s reign, when the little Prince “ Hal”’ was there
as a child,

As a royal building of some size, not too near London,
it figures in the assembly of three notable Parliaments—
1414, 1426, and 1450—though the debates of the first in
order of date was actually held in the Hall of the Grey
Friars. This Parliament was remarkable for the legislation
against the Lollards; here, where their teaching was so pro-
minent, was their extermination decided on ; probably at that
juncture the decision was brought to a head owing to a
recent rising of the Lollards having taken place in London.
This Parliament too gave Henry V. the power to finally
suppress the alien priories.

The next assembly was summoned to meet in the
Castle Hall with a view of making peace between the
uncles of King Henry VI.; it was known as the “Par-
liament of Bats,” because the members came armed with
“bats’ or bludgeons in their hands, owing, it is said, to
their being forbidden to carry sharper weapons of offence.
During this session the little King and his Court were at
the Castle under the Regent John Duke of Bedford, and
with much ceremony Henry at five years old was formally
made a knight in the Church of St. Mary de Castro. As
the son of the able and popular Henry V., much no doubt
was then hoped from him in the future, but before the 1450
Parliament was held the gentle scholarly King had proved
his utter incapacity to rule, and all was confusion at the seat
of Government on the breaking out of Jack Cade’s rebellion.

At this period, when Leicester ceased to be the centre of
a powerful noble, began the rise of the Hastings family, who,
with their castles of Kirby Muxloe and Ashby-de-la-Zouch,
figure prominently in the history of the time. At the other
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end of the county the lords of Belvoir had kept on their
way ; later times were to see them still greater men.

Till the fifteenth century there had been no dominant
lord other than of Leicester ; important Barons there were—
Mowbray of Melton, Basset of Sapcote, and Segrave of
Segrave, also Zouche of Ashby, and Ferrers of Groby, whe
had come into the county by marriage with the descendants
of the Beaumont co-heiress ; but of castle or even fortified or
moated houses there were singularly few in Leicestershire,
and it is probable that the beginning of the Wars of the
Roses found the strongholds of Belvoir and Leicester alone
in repair. Hastings's two castles were built during the
struggle.

The county had during the years of peace been free to
develop its wool trade, and make the beginnings of its coal
industry of to-day.

The town of Leicester, in the Wars of the Roses,
forsook its Lancastrian allegiance, and its men fought
for the Yorkists at Towton under Sir William Hastings.
A contemporary ballad runs:—

¢ The wolf cam fro Worcester, ful sure he thought to byte;
The dragon cam fro Gloucester, he bent his tayle to smyte ;
The griffin cam fro Leycester, flying in as lyte (quickly);
The George cam fro Nottingham, wit spere for to fyte.”

Hastings was from the first a champion of Edward
of York, and his first reward was the grant of the manor
of Ashby-de-la-Zouch.

Another Leicestershire family, the Greys of Groby,
were destined to rise with meteoric splendour, along with
the Northamptonshire Widvilles of Grafton, owing to the
fascinations of one Elizabeth Widville, widow of Sir John
Grey, who had been killed fighting against the Yorkists at
the battle of St. Albans.

It was Edward IV.s marriage and the favours that
followed to his new relations that brought about his dis-
comfiture by the Earl of Warwick, the ‘ King-Maker,” in

1470. For some months Edward fled the country, and on
B
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his return in March 1471 he came to Leicester, where he
was met by the faithful Lord Hastings, who had collected
“ryght-a-fayre felawshipe of folks to the nomber of 3000
men, well habyled for the wars,” so that the King left the
town “ better accompanied than ke had been at any time
before " to fight the battle at Barnet.

Only for a few years was the country at peace, during
which Edward granted several municipal privileges to the
town. On his death in 1483, Richard the Protector speedily
made a pretext to seize and behead Lords Hastings
and Rivers and Richard Grey, brother to the Marquis of
Dorset. The Marquis escaped to Brittany and sided with
Henry of Richmond, where, like Hastings, he changed his
opinions and intrigued with the opposite party; but, more
fortunate than Hastings, Henry left him behind in cus-
tody out of harm’s way when he sailed for England, and
eventually restored him to all his honours.

When Richard III. knew that an invasion on the part
of the Earl of Richmond was imminent, he withdrew to
Nottingham Castle, thinking that it would be a good central
position should the invasion really take place. Thus it was
at Nottingham that the King heard the news that Richmond
had landed at Milford Haven and had already made his way
to Shrewsbury. The King set out at once, with as many
men as he could muster, for Leicester. He probably

arrived at Leicester on the evening of August 2oth (1845) '

and spent the night there. There is a curious legend relative
to Richard’s lodging on this particular occasion. The story
goes that instead of spending the night at the castle, he
slept at the ‘ White Boar’ Inn, afterwards called the
“ Blue Boar,” ! and that he hid in the false bottom of the
bedstead 75300, which was afterwards found in the time
of Elizabeth. The landlord, finding this treasure, became

! In James L’s days ‘‘ King Richard’s bedstead ”” was a reputed fact, but
there is no reason why he should not have slept in his castle, which was
certainly habitable, as he had occupied it recently.

The old bedstead from the * Blue Boar,” still preserved at Beaumanor
Park, is of Elizabethan design.
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rich, and after his death his widow was murdered on
account of her wealth. Although Richard’s place of lodg-
ing remains in doubt, the Rolls of Parliament confirm the
fact that on the day before St. Bartholomew’s Day the
King mustered his forces, and, wearing his crown upon his
head, marched out of Leicester with all pomp and splendour.
Another strange story connected with Richard at Leicester
is that when he was riding over the Bow Bridge! his spur
struck against one of the stones, and a ‘‘wise woman,”
seeing this, told him that where his spur had struck his
head should be broken. This prophecy was fulfilled, for
when Richard’s body was brought back to Leicester, the
head, hanging down on one side of the horse, struck against
the bridge. On the night of August 21st the King encamped
south of Market Bosworth, beside the village of Sutton
Cheyney. The battle took place the next day. Henry of
Richmond, under the skilful guidance of a Warwickshire
man, one John Hardwick, had marched from Atherstone
to Whitemoor, adjoining Redmoor, on the 21st. By this
position it was secured to Henry that when he advanced
to the battle next day he had a morass on his right flank,
and his forces were disposed so that they had the great
advantage of the sun behind them. Lord Stanley with his
men were apart, and his brother, Sir William Stanley, was,
with another independent force, probably at Nether Coton.

Richard without doubt was on Ambian Hill; he had the
larger force, but Henry is thought to have had the best
artillery.

The final issue rested with the Stanleys, who had all the
power of Lancashire, Cheshire, and North Wales at their
back. Lord Stanley was Henry's stepfather, but he dared
not take part in the battle till the victory was somewhat
assured, for he feared to risk the life of his son, Lord

1 This medizval bridge was destroyed in 1862, It carried the Fosse Way
over the Soar.

Close by it was a high single-arched footpath connecting parts of the
Augustinian Priory. This was probably the original Bow Bridge. It dis-
appeared some years earlier than the larger one.
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Strange, who was a hostage in Richard’s hands, and would
have been put to death had Stanley gone over to Henry too
soon.

It was after Lord Stanley had joined the Tudor forces
that Richard was informed that his rival was posted not far
off with but a slender guard. Tradition says he then took
a draught at the spring now called “ King Dickon’s Well”;
then calling for his battle-axe and his crown, he set spurs
to his horse, and with the splendid courage that distin-
guished him he first hurled himself at Brandon, the
standard-bearer, whom he killed, then unhorsing Sir John
Cheney, renowned for his size and great strength, he
succeeded in engaging Henry in personal combat just as
again the cry was raised of ““A Stanley! a Stanley!” as
Sir William, with his men in their red coats bearing his
cognisance of a hart’s head, swept down to cut off the
King’s retreat.

Richard was urged to fly, but it was too late; and whilst
shouting “Treason!” he fell, overpowered by numbers and
done to death with numerous wounds. His death was the
end of the battle, and the defeated Yorkists were pursued
by Richmond and Lord Stanley; from the human bones
and armour long afterwards picked up, it is conjectured
that they fled in the direction of Stoke Golding. When
the victory was complete, Henry first knelt down and
thanked God for his success, then addressing his soldiers he
was acclaimed with cries of “King Henry!” Lord Stanley
placed Richard’s battered crown on his stepson’s head amid
renewed acclamations of ‘“Long live King Henry !”?! and
after a Te Deum had been sung the first Tudor sovereign of
England set out to make a great entry into Leicester.

1 All this took place, no doubt, on Crown Hill, upon a nodule of volcanic
rock, now grassed over, and situated near some poplars, a little to the south of
Stoke Golding.

¢¢The crown had been snatched from the fallen Richard’s helm by one of
the many plunderers of his person, who had secreted it under a thorn-bush ;
it fell into the hands of Sir Reginald Bray, and he was thus at this opportune
time enabled to produce it.”— Zransactions of the Leicestershire Archaological
Society, vol. ii.

~——cryrT—aar -~



HISTORIC LEICESTERSHIRE 21

It was necessary to prove to all men that King Richard
was veritably dead; search was made for his body, and
when it was found unseemly indignities were showered
upon it. Covered with blood and stripped naked, it was
borne back to Leicester, bound on the back of the horse
of one of Richard’s Pursuivants.

At Leicester the body was exposed for two days to
public view in the Newarke Church, and then buried
with little ceremony in Grey Friars, or, as Burton puts it,
‘“homely buried, where afterwards King Henry VII. (out
of a royal disposition) erected to him a faire alabaster
monument, with his picture cut out and made thereon.”

At the Dissolution of the monasteries tradition states
that Richard’s bones were carried through the streets of
Leicester by a mob and thrown under the end of the
Bow Bridge.

From the battle of Bosworth till the Civil War Leicester-
shire enjoyed peace within its borders. What great changes
took place were economic, and brought about mainly by the
Reformation and the Dissolution of the monasteries.

Shortly before this great upheaval in the religious
life of England, the death and burial of Cardinal Wolsey
took place in Leicester Abbey. The dying statesman
was on his way as a prisoner to London by order of
his ungrateful King, when he halted at St. Mary de Pratis
and said prophetically to the Abbot as they met, ‘‘ Father
Abbot, I am come to leave my bones among you;” and
again when he died, three days later, he uttered the
famous words, “If I had served my God as I have served
my king, He would not have deserted me in my grey
hairs.”

The lamentable history of the Dissolution is much the
same story in Leicestershire as elsewhere. First, the lesser
monastic houses, then the larger ones, and finally the
Colleges, Chantries, and Guilds were swept away in suc-
cession. What has been termed Cromwell’s “Reign of
Terror” set in; the buildings were stripped of anything
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movable that could be sold; the churches and tombs
desecrated ; plunder and waste everywhere.

But the parish churches were at this time spared,
to be dismantled in the iconoclastic Reformation under
Edward VI.

The last confiscation, which included the Guilds, no
doubt hit the people of Leicester hard, for they had several
rich communities; and there must have been general dis-
location when almost every school and what answered
to friendly societies, workhouses, and hospitals were all
swept away. )

No new foundation in the county was created out of
the revenues, though amongst the good intentions of Henry
VIII. that came to nought was a bishopric of Leicester; but
the neighbouring Abbot of Peterborough proved himself
more complacent about the surrender than did his brother
of St. Mary de Pratis, so that he got his reward and was
made the first Bishop of Peterborough.

Possibly the finest character amongst the Reformers
was a Leicestershire man, Hugh Latimer, born at Thur-
caston of yeoman parentage. When at Oxford at Corpus
Christi, the newly founded secular college of Bishop Foxe,
who had been Archdeacon of Leicester, he was a zealous
Papist, but from real conviction turned to the reformed
religion, and with his honesty and humour, his powerful
preaching pleaded its cause more effectively than all the
fanatical edicts. Latimer was burnt at the stake in Queen
Mary’s reign, three years after another Leicestershire victim,
Lady Jane Grey,® had paid the penalty of her relatives’
ambition.

The break up of the religious estates brought into
greater prominence many who became possessed of them
either by direct grant or favouritism, or by purchase from
those possessors of ill-gotten lands.

The three chief nobles took care to increase their landed

1 See ‘“ Greys of Bradgate,” gost.
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possessions ; they were the representatives of the Lan-
castrian Roos (now Manners), created by Henry VIII,, Earls
of Rutland, the Yorkist Hastings (now Earls of Hunting-
don), and Henry, second Marquis of Dorset, who at this time
got possession of Bradgate. The Beaumonts acquired Grace-
Dieu, and William Cavendish obtained Leicester Abbey
amongst other rewards. He was one of the husbands of
the celebrated ‘“ Bess of Hardwick,” and ancestor of the
Dukes of Devonshire and Portland, but the Abbey had soon
passed from his estates into the hands of another branch
of the Cavendishes, who made of it a residence.

The Hastings of Ashby-de-la-Zouch vied with the Lord
of Bradgate in chief importance. Free from royal ambitions,
they were able to live in all the state that a subject could
keep up; and after the Greys fell from their high position,
the Earls of Huntingdon and Rutland, at their opposing
ends of the shire, used their influence in the cause of law
and order in the Midlands through the reign of Elizabeth.

It is not recorded that that monarch paid one of her
costly visits to the county, though four times did the town
have the expense of futile preparations for her reception.
Mary Queen of the Scots was twice within its borders—at
Ashby under the care of the Earl of Huntingdon, and at
Leicester on both the journeys. The reign of Elizabeth
saw the increase of public soldiers that had begun to re-
place the retainers of older times; the town of Leicester
had its armoury; its soldiers were increased from ten to
twenty, and were trained with the county forces at Melton
as well as at home, In 1588 the Armada made a great stir;
some 12,000 males in the county responded to the summons
of the High Sheriff, Thomas Skeffington of Belgrave, to bear
arms ; 2000 were sent to Tilbury, and the remainder were
partially armed and allowed to return home pending the
landing of the Spaniards. Sir George Villiers?! of Brooksby

1 The Villiers had been settled at Brooksby since the reign of Henry III,
This Sir George was the father of the celebrated favourite, the Duke of
Buckingham, by his second wife, daughter of Anthony Beaumont of Glenfield,
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commanded the forty town soldiers that were the Tilbury
contingent.

The opening of the Civil War found the county held
almost wholly for the Parliament, with the exception of the
two castles of Belvoir and Ashby. Amongst the individual
Royalists who helped the King were William Earl of Devon
of the Abbey Mansion, Sir R. Halford of Wistow, Sir George
Villiers of Brooksby, Henry Berkeley, Henry Skipwith,
Woolstan Dixie, John Rolleston of Staunton, John Skeffing-
ton, Richard Roberts, Sir John Bale, William Foster of
Knighton, William Jones, and George Ashby.

For the Parliament were the Earl of Stamford, his son
Lord Grey, Lord Ruthin, Sir Arthur Hesilrige, Sir Edward
Hartopp, Archdale Palmer, Thomas Brudenell, Thomas
Beaumont, Thomas Babington, William Danvers, John St.
John.

In 1642 when the first Commissions of Array were
issued to put the counties in a state of defence on behalf
of the King, Leicester was the first county to receive the
proclamation which was the final provocation to the people
against him; presumably there were waverers, as it was
thought worth while for Charles himself to visit the town
and address the people.

It was in July 1642 he came from Nottingham with
Prince Charles and Prince Rupert, and was met by the
Mayor and Corporation and escorted to Lord Huntingdon’s
mansion. Next day Charles addressed the assembly at the
Assizes and received petitions from both town and county
couched in respectful language, but plainly showing their
disagreement with him. The following day, Sunday, he
attended in great ceremony a service in St. Martin’s, the

in Leicestershire. The Duke was born at Brooksby and sent to school * to
one Mr. Anthony Code, at Billesdon, where he also learned the grounds of
musick " ; at thirteen he went to live with his widowed mother at Goadby
Marwood, north of Melton ; later on he went to France and was not much
connected with the county again, except by his marriage with Lady Katherine
Manners, only daughter and heiress of the Earl of Rutland, though he used
his influence to obtain for Leicester the privileges of a staple town from
Charles I.
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official church of the town, which was specially got ready
for the occasion; and next day he departed, to return once
more for a night the following month on his way to War-
wickshire. There he found the gates of Coventry closed
against him, and returned to Leicester, not to the town,
but to the hospitality of the loyal Countess of Devon at
the Abbey.!

The next day Charles with Prince Rupert rode on to
Nottingham, and that afternoon raised his standard during
a storm of wind and rain that proved an ill omen for his
success in the war.

Before a month was out Prince Rupert had headed an
assault on Bradgate and established the headquarters of his
Royalist cavalry at Queniborough for a short time.

Bradgate was again plundered in the following year
(1643) to such an extent that Lord Stamford humbly en-
treated the House of Lords that “ some malignant’s house ”
that was ready furnished might be allotted unto him for his
family.?

Skirmishes and raids took place in different parts of
the county throughout the next two years, mainly led on
the one side by Hastings and the other by Lord Grey. It
was probably the desire to relieve the pressure on Oxford
that decided Charles to occupy Leicester, which was a centre
of disaffection. The Royal army came from Staffordshire
to Ashby on the 27th May 1645 ;3 on the 28th it rested at
Loughborough, and Charles slept at Cotes, the residence of
Sir Henry Skipwith ; the following day it reached Leicester,
and Prince Rupert utilised the ready-made earthworks of
Rawdykes as positions for his batteries.

King Charles took up his quarters at Aylestone? till

1 The exact dates of Charles’s movements were: Nottingham to Leicester,
August 18th ; to Coventry, 19th ; that night and probably the next at Stone-
leigh. Returned to Leicester Abbey, 21st ; and the following day, Monday,
22nd, to Nottingham.

2 J. Thompson, History of Leicester.

3 See *“ Henry Hastings,” post.

4 Mrs. Fielding Johnson, Glimpses of Ancient Leicester.
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after two days’ siege the town was taken, and he rode
through it on his way to the Abbey mansion, which after
his departure was unaccountably set on fire by the Royalist
soldiers. The town was extensively sacked and robbed by
the victorious troops apparently, as appears from a petition
to the House of Commons by some Londoners, who said
the storming of Leicester had made a deep impression on
them and ‘““the barbarous cruelties practised there.”* That
terrible licence and cruelty went on is without doubt true.
Cromwell’s troops were not wholly exempt from such charges
elsewhere, and here there seems to have been provocation to
the Royal army in the part taken by women.

At least a letter written by an officer in the King’s army
sets forth :—

¢“That the very women, to the honour of the Leicester ladies, if they like
it, officiously did their parts, and after the town was taken, and when if they
had been possessed of any discretion with their zeal, they would have kept
their houses and been quiet, they fired upon our men out of their windows
and from the tops of their houses and threw tiles upon their heads.” 2

In ignorance of Fairfax’s movements, who set out for
Leicester from Oxford, Charles’s plans were undecided.
The Royal army marched to Kibworth? the week following
after the taking of Leicester, then to Northamptonshire,
within the boundary of which county was fought the
disastrous battle of Naseby. Charles fled to Leicester, but,
hotly pursued, he had to go straight through, and reached
Ashby in safety. Cromwell had himself nearly reached
the town in the pursuit and, followed next day by Fairfax,
who had come on to Great Glen after the battle, prepared
to retake Leicester. Fortunately it was spared another

1 J. Thompson, History of Leicester. The details of the siege of Leicester
have been well dealt with by the local historians.

2 J. F. Hollings, Leicester during the Civil War.

3 When Charles left the Abbey on the 4th June he spent the night at
Wistow at Sir Richard Halford’s, where soon after on his flight from Naseby
he got a fresh horse, leaving his own ornate saddle and stirrups behind to
become treasured heirlooms.
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siege, owing to the weakness of its defences, and the terms
of surrender that were offered by Fairfax—honourable as
befitted the man whom Charles described as ““a man of
honour and keeps his word.”

Fairfax tarried but a few days in Leicester, nor did he
stay to take Ashby Castle; that and Belvoir both sur-
rendered to the Parliament early in the following year.

The great personages of the strife were still to traverse
the county—King Charles on his way as a prisoner to
Holdenby, Fairfax and his wife to be entertained by the
corporation at a banquet, and Cromwell on his way to
Scotland.

At the beginning of the Commonwealth, when the
Independents were intolerantly asserting their form of
religious persuasion, it was again the lot of the county to
take part in a new religious excitement when Quakerism
was preached by George Fox, son of a Leicestershire
weaver of Drayton by the Rutland border, where he
began proselytising, before he roused Lutterworth and the
neighbourhood in Leicestershire. Later on a conference
of Baptists and others at Broughton Astley gave him his
first opportunity of addressing a large assembly, which
brought him into notoriety. Again in Leicester, probably
at St. Martin’s, was the first occasion he was moved to
speak in a ‘steeple house,” as he called a church, where,
at a great disputation, in which Presbyterians, Indepen-
dents, Baptists and Churchmen all took part, Fox set the
congregation ‘“on fire,”” and the debate came to a stormy
conclusion, so that he retired to an inn to continue his
arguments with those that were willing. On a later
occasion, when he was preaching in the town, he was
taken up by the officer commanding and eventually sent
up in custody to Cromwell, who, more liberally minded than
his officers, let him go.

The mayor and aldermen of the town sent a most
humble address up to “his Highness " Richard Cromwell
on his father’s death, but notwithstanding that he failed
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altogether to prove what they expected, ‘‘ Another Joshua
with his spirit redoubled,” they still clung to the Crom-
wellian party, and would not join the county in a demand
for a free Parliament. In 1660 they were fain to enter-
tain General Monk at a banquet as he passed through the
county on his way to London with part of his army, when
he was met near Leicester by the two commissioners
from Parliament, the bells were rung and many people of
the neighbourhood assembled to greet him. The following
day the High Sheriff, George Faunt, and others followed
him to St. Albans to present an address in support of their
views, but the mayor wrote to Sir Arthur Heselrige to
acquaint him with their standing aloof from the sheriff’s
overtures.!

Heselrige, the Leicestershire Parliamentarian, had repre-
sented the town in three of the ineffective Commonwealth
Parliaments, but in the election that closely followed, in April
1660, the revulsion of feeling in favour of the Restoration
caused the name of Hesilrige to come out the lowest in
the poll. It was owing to Monk’s interposition that his
life was spared when retribution was dealt out after the
Restoration.

The Proclamation of Charles II. was everywhere re-
ceived with loud rejoicings, so great was the majority in his
favour.

From this time Leicester ceases to figure in the general
history of the county. The Civil War was the end of all
fortified dwellings; Leicester Castle had long been only
a semblance of itself; Ashby and Belvoir Castles were
partially destroyed; Kirby Muxloe abandoned; of Castle
Donington, Burton wrote that it had been “ quite ruinated ”
by the Earl of Huntingdon, when he bought it at the end of
the previous century, and “ built a fair house in the park.”
In some counties great building activity succeeded the
Restoration; in many cases to repair damages, in others

! J. Thompson, History of Leicester.
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men who had been abroad with Charles II. came back
imbued with French taste, and set to work to express it in
their houses. In Leicester itself it was round about the
year 1700 that much of the old town was rebuilt, when
brick clay was discovered close to the town. The building
periods that seem to have been most marked in the county
were the reign of Charles I. and the grievous era in
architectural taste of 1800, when Belvoir Castle, Castle
Donington, and Coleorton were built.

Jacobite feeling in Leicester ran high, and from the
abdication of James II. till the final act in 1745, the
intrigues were incessant in favour of the Pretender.

Much alarm and commotion was caused by the near
approach of Charles Edward and his army from the north,
and some of his adherents were heartily glad when they
found he had been turned back from Derby and were
spared putting their loyalty to an actual test.

From the Civil War downwards there has always been
a party in the county focused at Leicester, with a strong
bias against the powers that be. Jacobitism having come
to an end in 1782, the “Revolution Club” was founded
in memory of the reign of William of Orange, to unite
‘“‘the independent interest of the town and county of
Leicester . . . supporting and defending them against any
oppression or invasion they might suffer from the undue
exertions of misplaced power or the venal influence of
enemies to freedom.”

The consternation at the deeds of the French Revolu-
tion, ten years later, raised a storm all over the county in
denunciation of all reformers ; in the horror excited by the
excesses committed, such a course was a natural reaction.
The *“ Revolution Club” died a natural death, and even
the strongest Liberals made themselves into a ‘ Constitu-
tional Society.” All parties of town and county sunk their
differences in the mayor’s feast in 1792, and drank to the
toast of ‘“ May the British Constitution be never infected
with the French disease.”
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The arming of soldiers, owing to the alarm of invasion,
was common to other counties in the Napoleonic times,
and henceforth the distinctive history of the shire is entirely
industrial. '

The variety of interests in the county is great. From
the old castle of Ashbyin the north-west stretches the
beautiful district of Charnwood Forest to the flat river
plain where Leicester stands—a modern manufacturing
town on Roman and medizeval foundations. It may well
be taken as a typical illustration of the different stages in
the history of an English town from the earliest times to
the present day. South-east from Ashby, beyond the
murky coal villages, lie the pastures of Bosworth and the
manufacturing district of Hinckley and Earl Shilton, where
tall smoking chimneys betoken the exchange of agriculture
for manufactures. Farther south is the peaceful little town
of Lutterworth in rural surroundings, and from there, strik-
ing north-east through Market Harborough up to Melton
Mowbray and the Vale of Belvoir, to Lincolnshire, some of
the finest land of England is comprised, purely agricultural,
well farmed, with picturesque villages and fine churches
and houses; it is the land of the Pytchley, Cottesmore,
Quorn, and Belvoir Hounds—the land, above all others,
of fox-hunting, which in Leicestershire may almost be
termed an historic industry.

This sketch has sought to outline a few of the events
that agitated the shire, to mention some of the principal men
concerned in its history, and, if it may be, lead some of the
inhabitants of the present day to study more of the past of
their inheritance—‘ For what is man’s lifetime unless the
memory of past events is woven with those of earlier
times ?”
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impossible to attempt to reconstruct the prehistoric road-
map of this region.

In the south of England many old roads have been
described as “British track-ways,” and more might be
cited which as well deserve that name. These are by no
means alike in form, and we may distinguish three types
which appear to be older than the time of the Romans.

The most marked, which I would call the ¢ ridge-
way " type, is distinguished by following the ridges of hills,
winding considerably to avoid brooks or marshy ground,
and crossing rivers but seldom, and then only where the
hard ground comes close to the water on either side.
Along these roads are many tumuli, placed at conspicuous
places, especially where the road forks or two roads cross.
Earthworks of the “hill-top” variety and rectangular
camps are found beside them and innumerable traces of
prehistoric villages. Where they cross the virgin down
cattle tracks are plentiful, which are most clearly visible
when the road ascends a hill. The Ridge-way in Wilts
and Berks is perhaps the best-known example, and was
called by this name in the tenth century. It has been
described by Sir Richard Colt Hoare in his Ancient Wilts.

Another clearly-marked type, which I will call “hill-
side,” winds along the sides of hills just above the alluvium.
Marshes and low-lying ground are avoided, but small
streams do not offer so great an obstacle as in the case of
the ridge-roads. Mr. Hilaire Belloc in 7%e Old Road has
described such a way leading from Winchester to Canter-
bury, and the Icknield Way, which runs through Wantage
parallel to the Ridge-way, is another example.

Intermediate between these is a third, an example of
which is the Harrow-way, which runs across the north
of Hampshire. This keeps on high ground, though not
on the ridge, but does not hesitate to cross small brooks
if a saving of distance is gained thereby.

The great number of prehistoric remains found by the
side of roads of all these three types leaves little room for
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doubt that they were in use before the Roman period, and
the fact that roads of two, or even all three, types may be
found running parallel, sometimes scarcely a mile apart,
leads one to suppose that they originated at different times.
The ridge roads are presumably the oldest, for they are the
most circuitous and pass by the earliest settlements. The
tumuli by their sides belong, for the most part, to the early
part of the Bronze Age, though neolithic remains are found
also beside them. The ‘“ Harrow-way” type is probably
the next, and these, too, keep for the most part to the high
ground, showing that when first used the lowlands had not
been cleared and inhabited. The hill-side roads belong to
the latest stage, when people began to settle in the valleys,
and give up a pastoral life for agricultural pursuits.

As to the age of these roads it is difficult to speak with
certainty. The presence of many remains of the early part
of the Bronze Age beside the ridge roads shows them to
have been in use at that time, though they may have been
used for local purposes in neolithic days. The remains
found along the Harrow-way type have not been carefully
examined ; but these roads came into use, we may imagine,
some time during the later bronze period, while the number
of “Late Celtic” remains found along the hill-side roads
shows that they belong to the times immediately preceding
the Roman era.

But all the roads once made remained in use through
succeeding periods ; many, if not most, are in use to-day.
So it happens that Roman remains are found frequently
beside them all, which has caused antiquaries of the old
school to describe many of them as Roman roads. But
these roads were not made in the ordinary sense of the
term. Some engineering is visible in places along the hill-
side roads, but use alone made the roads, as is the case
with the trails of savages or our own footpaths.

Though these roads were, no doubt, traversed for many
purposes, itinerant traders must have used them most fre-

quently, and those which are most conspicuous must have
C
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been essentially trade routes. As they appear to date
from the beginning of the Bronze Age, we may feel sure
that implements of that metal formed part of the merchan-
dise carried along them, and it will be worth while to
consider the circumstances of this trade before dealing
specifically with those portions of the routes which traverse
Leicestershire.

The earliest bronze implements reached this country
from France about B.C. 1800, though this date must be
accepted with caution. The Gaulish traders seem then,
as later, to have carried their traffic by boat along their
rivers, and the earliest merchants probably approached this
island from the mouth of the Seine. Mr. Belloc has well
described how they would have approached St. Catherine’s
Head in the Isle of Wight, and when nearing the shore
they must have turned either to the east and landed near
Chichester, or to the west, when their best harbour would
have been near Christchurch—probably by St. Catherine’s
Hill, where remains of early earthworks still exist. If
they skirted the coast of Normandy as far as Cape La
Hague they would have made for Portland Bill, and then
landed either at Lulworth Cove or the head of the Chesil
beach below Abbotsbury, or perhaps even as far west as
Charmouth or Seaton.

From these ports they traded with the inhabitants of
the southern downs, who were their chief customers, and
some time elapsed before they advanced north of a line
represented by the Thames and the Bristol Avon. Both
of these rivers are bordered by alluvial lands, difficult to
cross, and the region around their sources must have
been marshy and covered with scrub, so that a road by
the watershed would have been impracticable. When at
length the traders sought markets to the north, they
preferred to cross the rivers where the hard ground de-
scended on either side to the water’s edge, and selected
fords respectively at Streatley and Bath.

To the former ran the Ridge-way already mentioned
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and other tracks from some of the southern ports, and
the trade route thus opened out led to East Anglia and
the high ground east of the fens. Roads from Seaton,
Abbotsbury, and Christchurch converged to Bath, making
a great detour to avoid the Glastonbury swamp, and pro-
ceeded along the Cotswolds in the direction of Stow-on-
the-Wold. Near here the road divides, one branch con-
tinuing to the north-west Midlands, while the other, with
which we are more immediately concerned, turned eastward
and followed the boundary between the counties of Warwick
and Oxford to Edgehill, after which its course becomes less
distinct.

The road is now entering a thickly-wooded region, for
in early days Leicestershire and much of the land adjoin-
ing it was one vast forest. From the fens on the east
the woodlands of Rutland and the Forest of Rockingham
must have stretched across the county till they reached
Needwood Forest on the west, while Sherwood to the
north-east must have run continuously to Arden on the
south-west. The north-western quarter of the county was
not disafforested till 1812, and still goes by the name of
Charnwood Forest, which, during the Middle Ages, reached
to the very walls of the town of Leicester. Wohile the
neolithic men of the south tended their flocks and herds
on the downs, their contemporaries in Leicestershire must
have been still in the hunting stage, and few of their
implements have survived but axes, which date probably
from the period when bronze was becoming well known
in the southern counties.

Such a population would not readily invite the trader
in bronze implements, for they could have had little to ex-
change for his wares, and what we may term the middle
Bronze Age must have been well advanced before he
brought his merchandise to them. With but one exception,
the bronze articles found in the county cannot be con-
sidered older than this period, and the vast majority seem
to be later.
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The route of these traders north of Edgehill can only
be traced in outline and with considerable uncertainty.
That it followed the watershed of the Avon seems pro-
bable, and then passed north-west to Husband’s Bosworth,
where it entered the county at the watershed of the Avon
and the Welland. Here a hoard of implements belonging
to the late Bronze Age was discovered more than a
century ago, but nothing has so far been found dating
from the earlier part of the period.

The course of the road through Leicestershire seems
to have been by Bosworth Lodge, Mowsley, and Sadding-
ton to Kibworth Harcourt, where a tumulus of the Roman
period marks its course, then on by Carlton Grange and
the Gartree bush, between Illston and Noseley, where a
flint celt and some Bronze Age pottery have been found,
between Frisby and Rolleston, to the north of Skeffington,
where a bronze spear-head was found, and so to Tilton.

Here a tumulus, near the windmill, seems to show
where several ways converged. Various earthworks in
the immediate neighbourhood indicate that the place was
formerly of more importance than at present, while the
Roman coins that have been found there prove that it was
still occupied at that period.

A road to the east here leads past Tilton station, where
there is a rectangular camp, to the south of Withcote near
Sanvey Castle, past a tumulus and on north of Swintley
House, through Manton and Edith Weston in the direction
of Stamford. The main line passes Owston Grange, where
remains of cinerary urns were found long ago, through
Somerby and Pickwell past Jericho Lodge till it crosses
the Eye at Stapleford. Thence it passed between Freeby
and Saxby, where some Roman remains have been found
near Stonesby Lodge, through Saltby, where several tumuli
mark its course, and past Hungerton Hall till it crossed
the Witham a little north of Ponton. Its course hence was
northward, and parallel to the Ermine Street to Lincoln.
There seems also to be a third branch, less clearly
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indicated, through Waltham-on-the-Wolds, Eastwell, and
Belvoir, where some ¢ Late Celtic "’ pottery was discovered ;
it goes by Bottesford and Long Bennington towards some
point near Newark.

Since the trade with the inhabitants of Leicestershire
must have been so scanty, it is worth while considering
what brought merchants into these parts at this time. As
the routes seem to point to ports on rivers running to the
east coast, an over-sea traffic seems implied.

That there was a constant communication with Den-
mark or Holland about this time seems likely, for the
race of broad-headed men—formerly called Bronze Age
men—who are now believed to have first landed at the
close of the neolithic period, are thought to have come
from those parts, for there alone in Europe has a similar
race been found. Their line of approach would most
likely have been by various ports on the coast of East
Anglia, which would have brought them to Salisbury
Plain by the Streatley route ; but some probably entered
the Wash, sailed up the rivers that run into it, and so
passed to the south by the route we have been tracing.

The chief reason for ports so far north was that
the inhabitants of Denmark and the surrounding regions
were in want of gold, and in due course their pros-
pectors found that the Eldorado of the time was
Ireland. How they first reached there is uncertain ; but
we know that Irish gold reached Denmark, and it has
been suggested that all the precious metal found at this
time in Scandinavia came from the western isle. Traders
from Denmark to Ireland would wish to avoid a long and
dangerous sea journey around these isles, yet would be
anxious to make the land crossing as short as possible.
The ports around the Wash would for this purpose be
the most suitable landing-places, and we are fortunately
able to trace their land route across the county.

Coming from Lincoln and Stamford, or ports near those
places, by the roads we have already traced as far as
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Tilton, they wished to avoid crossing the Soar where
the river was not fordable. The lowest point which
would serve their purpose seems to have been just below
Leicester, where the Abbey stood in later days, and where
the river was divided into two or more channels, and this
was the point they aimed at.

Leaving Tilton, the track seems to make for Billesdon
Coplow, passing just to the north of the old camp on the
hill above, and then across Palace Hill to the Leicester
and Uppingham road. It kept rather to the south of the
highway till it reached Houghton-on-the-Hill, then followed
the general direction of the footpath from that village to
Bushby. The road through Bushby and Thurnby seems
to be on the old line, which crossed the stream where the
footbridge now is and continued on up the hill towards
Evington Hall. From this point, I am inclined to think,
alternative tracks led to two fords on the river. One
passed over the Spinney Hills and through the park, where
arrow-heads have been found, and so through the Midland
station to Granby Street, and then by Church Gate to St.
Margaret’s pasture; while the other ran into the Green
Lane, and making straight for the lower end of Wharf
Street, where a hammer-head has been dug up, passed by
Sydney Street and across the upper part of the Abbey
meadow, where a stone celt and a bronze dagger were
discovered a few years ago. It crossed the river near
the Abbey, where an upright stone, known formerly as
St. John's Stone, seems to have marked the passage.

Both trails evidently converged on to the Anstey Lane
and followed this to the village where the river was crossed
by a ford just where the old mediseval pack-horse bridge
now stands. Passing through the village of Anstey one
may still see traces of the old road to the south of the
highway as one ascends the hill on the way to Newtown
Linford. But the old way soon diverged from the modern
road, passed by Anstey High Leys and through Chaplin’s
Rough, to the north of Old Wood and Lawn Wood, joining

e
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the Markfield and Newtown Lane by Heyday Hays. It
followed along the line of this lane to the turnpike road,
and by the latter to the cross-roads beyond the village.
Here stood formerly an old upright stone, known as the
Altar Stone, which seems to have been another mark on
the way. Here our road leaves the highway and turns
for a short distance along the lane to Copt Oak, but it soon
leaves this and bearing to the left passes along the lane by
‘White Hill and makes straight for Bardon Hill.

Before reaching the Hill it bears round still farther to
the left past the Rice Rocks and joins the Ashby turnpike
near the lodge of Bardon Hall; then continues along the
road through Coalville, past Snibston and Sinope, to Ashby-
de-la-Zouch. Whether it entered the town or kept to the
north of it seems uncertain, but soon it joined the Burton
road and followed the line of the present highway till it
reached the Trent.

That it crossed the river at or near Burton seems pro-
bable, and its further course is somewhat uncertain, but it
appears to have gone on towards Chester.

From Stamford this is a fairly direct route towards the
western ports on the Dee and Mersey, from which Ireland
could best be reached; but from Lincoln a very considerable
detour has been made to avoid crossing the Trent and the
Soar. Various attempts seem to have been made to cut a
corner,one of which left our former route at Billesdon Coplow,
and ran past Ingarsby station to Keyham, and thence along
the footpath to Barkby Thorpe, and so on to the junction
of the Fosse Way and the Melton road, where a tumulus
formerly stood. From thence it seems to have gone to the
Wreak at Syston Mill, near which a bronze dagger was
found in the clay, and on through Cossington to cross the
Soar at Sileby Mill. It passed by Mountsorrel, where
various early remains have been found, and so on to Wood-
house Church.

But soon a better way was found, both shorter and
traversing firmer ground. This branched off from the other
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road near Saltby, and crossed Croxton Park on its way to
the White Lodge north of Goadby Marwood. North of
Scalford it met the road coming from Bottesford and Bel-
voir, which we have described before, and then continued
along the present road to Six Hills, where it crossed the
Fosse Way, and so to Barrow-on-Soar. Here stood, in all
probability, the tumulus which gave its name to the village,
to mark the crossing of the river. Whether this was by a
ford or a ferry in a dug-out canoe is uncertain, but that it
was where the present bridge now stands seems likely.
The track passed to the north of Quorn Hall, nearly on the
line of the present road, then ran direct to Quorn station
and thence almost straight to Woodhouse Church, where it
met the road from Mountsorrel.

The present road to the south of Beaumanor Park seems
on the line of our track, which passed to the south of Beacon
Hill, where a hoard of bronze implements has been found,
and so past Bawdon Castle, known formerly as Cateirn Hill,
to the north of Birch Hill and Bardon quarries, where a
spear-head and palstave have been found, and so to join the
great road to the west.

Various cross-roads, connecting those just described or
cutting off corners, seem to have crossed the Wreak at
Melton Mowbray, Kirby Bellars, and near Brooksby, but
their course and object is uncertain. It is also possible
that a road continued from Bardon Hill through Huggles-
cote and Donnington Heath in the direction of Cole Orton.
Again there are faint indications of another route from
Husband's Bosworth through Gilmorton, Broughton Astley,
Stoney Stanton, Elmsthorpe, Sutton Cheney, Market Bos-
worth and Shakerstone, to join the road to the west. But
more investigations must be made before the exact routes
can be made out.

As we approach the late Bronze Age, the period noted
for socketed celts, we find a change in the general direction
of trade. The distribution of socketed implements shows
us that the centre of the industry was in the basin of the
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Rhine, and the traders travelled in all probability down
that river on their way to these islands. It seems likely
that then, as later, they did not cross the sea direct, but
skirted the shore of Belgium until they arrived near Calais,
when they crossed to the Kentish ports. This seems to
have been the chief trade route between Britain and the
Continent during the latter part of the Bronze Age, though
there are reasons for believing that an independent traffic
was carried on between the south-western counties by the
Channel Isles to Brittany, and so through western France
to the cities of north-east Spain.

Irish gold found its way also across the Channel to
north-east France, and the route through this island must
have passed near Leicestershire, though we can only trace
it in outline. Leaving the Kentish ports, the road must
have crossed the Thames, probably at Brentford, and
passed north into Hertfordshire, and thence north-west
to Husband’s Bosworth. Here it left the other road and
turned to the west. There seem for a while to be alter-
native routes, one going through Kimcote, Lutterworth,
and Willey to Wolvey Heath in Warwickshire, while the
other led through Gilmorton, Ullesthorpe, and Wibtoft to
the same place. Thence the road seems to have continued
towards Chester.

But as bronze axes became more generally used, the
people were enabled to clear the low lands of the scrub
which had made it impassable. The process took place
gradually, we may feel sure; but before the close of the
Bronze Age many agricultural villages must have arisen in
the valleys of the south-eastern counties. About B.C. 450
there arrived another people, who brought the knowledge
of iron to our shores. That they were the first to use
wheeled vehicles seems likely, inasmuch as, while horse
trappings and harness have never yet been discovered
associated with undoubted Bronze Age remains, they are
not infrequently found among discoveries of the ‘Late
Celtic” period. The translation of the villages from the
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hill-tops to the valleys, accompanied by the introduction
of wheeled traffic, necessitated a new style of road, and
it is to this epoch that I would relegate the ‘hill-side ”
roads.

The Irish gold trade still continued to flourish, and
much of the precious metal seems to have found its way
to the Swiss lake villages. The route followed was on
the same broad lines as that just traced, but somewhat
shortened by cutting off corners. In a few places only has
it been traced accurately, but we can fill in the links with
a fair approach to accuracy.

The Thames seems to have been crossed near London,
and the road went by Hampstead to St. Albans, which was
now becoming an important centre. Thence it ran north-
west, as shown on the map, till it entered the county near
Shawell. From here for a while its course is uncertain,
but it probably passed through Warwickshire on its way
to Highcross, then continued through Burbage and Hinck-
ley, Wykin, Atterton, and Ratcliffe Culey, Grendon, Poles-
worth, and Glascote to Tamworth. Thence its course may
be traced past Coton and Packington to Wall, after which
we need describe it no further.

The road from Bath seems also to have been straightened
and modernised, but we will be content to trace its course
from near Stow-on-the-Wold. From Upper Swell it comes,
as shown on the map, to Shawell, where the tumulus pro-
bably marks the crossing of this and the other road. Hence
we may trace its course through Melbourne and Walcote
and by the west of Kimcote to Gilmorton, where it divides.
One branch, probably the earlier, goes by Peatling Magna
and Foston to East Wigston, and thence is easily traced by
the west of Great Stretton to Houghton-on-the-Hill. Its
further course seems to be by Ingarsby, Hungerton, and
Twyford to the camp at Burrow. From this point it
would seem the old roads already traced continued to be
used, for there are no clear evidences of the later type.

The other branch from Gilmorton passed between
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Ashby Magna and Peatling Parva to Willoughby Water-
less, where a ‘‘ Late Celtic” urn has been found, then to
the east of Blaby, through Aylestone Park into Leicester.
Its course northwards seems to have coincided very nearly
with the Fosse road, which was its Roman successor, and
there are no traces of the earlier way through Leicester-
shire, though it may be noticed passing through East
Bridgeford and Kneeton in the Trent valley.

Various small connecting links may be noticed, but the
only one of any importance is that running from Crick
through Yelvertoft, Claycoton, and Stanford-on-Avon to
Melbourne Lodge, thus forming a connection between
Leicester and London.

One more road was used in the Iron Age which had
no predecessor in the Bronze Age. Whether it was that
the Thames presented difficulties to the traders, now
travelling with waggons, or whether the merchants de-
sired to shorten their land route at the expense of a
lengthened sea voyage, one cannot decide. But for some
such reason the trading vessels from north-eastern France
sometimes put in at ports in Essex, and made their way
direct from there to the north-west, keeping, however,
south of the fens to Great Easton.

Fragments of harness of the ‘“Late Celtic” style
found here show that the road passed this way towards
Hallaton, where an uninscribed gold coin and some
Roman pottery have been found. Various earthworks
near here show this to have been an important place both
before and after the Romans came. The road continued to
the south of Goadby, where many remains have been found,
which are supposed to be Roman, but may be earlier; then
on through Noseley, where celts and pottery have been
found, past Illston-on-the-Hill and to the south of King’s
Norton, then through Stoughton and Evington to Leicester.

Its course through the town cannot be traced, but it
probably left by a ford just below the west bridge, where
it divided. One branch kept straight on through New
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Found Pool and Glenfield till it met the Ashby turnpike
opposite Bradgate House. It followed the high-road as
far as Coalville, when it continued west along the Bronze
Age track already traced. The other followed roughly
the present Hinckley road nearly as far as Cross Lanes,
then went past Forest House, Alder Hall, Broomhills, and
Kirby Mallory Hall and north of Upton Park to Atterton,
where it joined the other route to Chester.

Such were the principal roads that the Romans found
in existence when they arrived, and before they had been
long in the county they had straightened the road from
London towards Chester, which is now known as the
Watling Street, and forms the south-west boundary of
the county. The greater part, if not all, of the road from
Bath to Lincoln was also straightened, and is now so well
known as the Fosse that its course requires no further
description. The last road from Colchester to Chester
was straightened as far as Leicester, and its course is
quite clear till it comes to Rockingham Forest. This
portion seems to have been traceable a century ago, but
now most of the evidence has disappeared. Through this
county, however, the old Gartree road shows the course of
the Roman road as far as Stoughton Park, whence it con-
tinued straight to the town and down the New Walk into
the Roman city. A continuation through Ashby has always
been postulated, but no clear evidence of its existence
has been obtained. It seems more likely that the old
road sufficed for those who wanted a direct route, but
that most travellers followed the now straightened road
through Kirby Mallory, which joined the Watling Street
at Mancetter. This course to Chester would, perhaps,
be a few miles longer, but the country through which it
would pass would be more level and less wild than that
along the older but more direct route.

Such in brief outline is the prehistoric road-map of
Leicestershire, somewhat shadowy as yet in places, but
a skeleton which may be improved and corrected by







PREHISTORIC LEICESTERSHIRE

By A. R. HORwOOD

PART I

district, we are obliged to turn to the evidence of com-

parative archaeology and philology as well as history,
and to the relics of that period which has been aptly termed
“the meeting-place of geology and history.” Turning to the
great geological period of the Ice Age, in England we see
that during this epoch of change huge blocks of granite,
Carboniferous limestone, and Millstone grit, or of Coal-
measure sandstone, Permian, Jurassic, and Cretaceous rocks
and fossils were torn up, dragged along, rendered smooth
and polished or striated, and carried forward southwards
for long distances. These were finally laid down in a fresh
district, distributed evenly over the country, north of a line
drawn from near Bristol across England to the Wash.
South of this deposits of boulder clay diminish; but in
East Anglia assume great variety, testifying to alternations
of periods of submergence and elevation.

The surface of Leicestershire is covered with a thick
mantle of boulder clay then formed, and boulders are scat-
tered all over the county, some of great size and weight.
Fine examples are exhibited in the grounds of Leicester
Museum.

If we glance for a moment at the physical structure or
conformation of Leicestershire in its latest or recent state,
before civilisation had advanced towards the erection of

early earthworks or camps of refuge, before buildings of
46
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any description had been constructed, and long before per-
manent roads were carried across the country, we find little
or nothing to indicate the manner of dwelling or the nature
of the communities formed by the earliest peoples.

Taking a bird’s-eye view of the district covered by the
present county, we find it consists of more or less lowland
country traversed centrally by the river Soar (the ancient
Leir), a tributary of the Trent. West of this line is the
Trent, bounding the county on the N.W.,, the river Anker
dividing it from Warwickshire on the S.W., with its tribu-
tary, the Sence, flowing from the N.E. To the E. is
the river Wreake, and the Eye flowing into the Soar to
the N.E., with small tributaries also flowing westwards,
whilst in the S.E. the Welland and the Avon bound the
county during part of their course, and the latter sends
forth tributaries to the N.W.

On either side of the central valley of the river Soar
extend wide plains to the E. of Lias clay, and to the W. of
Red marl and Coal-measures. The western area is only
diversified by higher ground to the N.W. and the miniature
mountain range of Charnwood Forest, the summit of whose
highest point, Bardon Hill (912 feet), affords a fine prospect
in every direction.

This hilly country (once hidden in a sea of moor and
forest varied with mountain crags, from which many of the
boulders spread around the country southwards were de-
rived by ice agency) we may well picture to ourselves as
affording excellent natural fastnesses for the early types of
man that inhabited this part of England before the valleys
excavated by the glaciers were filled with their now thick
alluvial deposit.

From Bardon we can indeed imagine that—as in the
case of Beacon Hill—the early nomads may have signalled
to their kin at Barr Beacon, some forty miles distant, and
visible from Bardon on a clear day. Covered with thick
forests and frequented by the larger animals of the
chase, some now extinct or now only kept in a state of
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semi-protection, e.g. the red-deer, this submerged moun-
tain range would have afforded an ideal point of vantage to
tribes liable to be raided by their neighbours of Sherwood
or of the adjoining Forest of Arden.!

Evidence of Druidical worship—to whatever period of
the early history of the British or Celtic tribes, Stone,
Bronze, or Iron Age we' may refer it—is afforded by
the traditions connected with such natural monuments as
the Hanging Stone—another form of the word ¢ Stone-
henge”—near the Oaks Church, and the rocks called
the Hanging Stones at Beaumanor—natural monoliths of
Charnwood Forest rocks—as well as others at Whitwick
and at Bawdon Castle. The ‘ Altar Stones” at Markfield,
and possibly some megaliths at Beacon Hill, may too have
had a like significance.

No true Druidic, or so-called Druidic, cromlechs, stone-
circles, or cairns occur in the county. The monoliths, such
as stone pillars and long pillars (menhirs), are all natural
rocks untouched by man, but doubtless used, in prehistoric
and perhaps later in Romano-British or even post-Roman
times in some places, for rites and ceremonies or for flashing
beacon-lights from one point to another.

In the neighbourhood of Leicester there are two stones
of this kind which have been the subject of much specula-
tion. The first was situated in the ‘ Johnstone Close,”
about a mile from Leicester, near the Abbey. In 1807 it
stood seven feet above the ground, but in 1874 it was said
to be about two feet. It had been roughly shaped and had
no striations on the surface. It was called the ¢ Little
John's Stone,” or “ St. John’s Stone.” 2

Another stone of local interest, and of which there are

1 Other heights in this district are Beacon Hill, already mentioned, 818
feet ; Brombriggs, 777; Bawdon Castle, 769; Hammercliff, 6go; Tin
Meadows, 680 ; Pelder Tor, 660 ; White Hill, 640 ; Benscliff Wood, 606 ;
Green Hill, 60o; Tor Head, 600; Whittle Hill, 568; Sty Hills, 560.
Most of these are etymologically of Celtic origin.

2 See further for this and the Humberstone stone, post, Vestiges of
Paganism.




PREHISTORIC LEICESTERSHIRE 49

many traditional accounts, the Humber Stone or Holy
Stone, is situated in the parish of Humberstone, on the
farm of Mr. Kirby (in 1874). It still lies in the same
spot, though it has been reduced in size.

Situated about five or six miles from Leicester, to the
N.E, is another stone called “ The Moody Bush Stone.”
It is to be seen in a field on the left side of the ‘“ Ridge
Way,” in Moody Bush Field, New York Farm, near Syston.
It projects four feet above the ground, and is embedded
three or four feet below the surface, and is pentagonal,
tapering gradually to the top. It is sharp, angular, longer
than broad, and has been placed in the ground by human
agency. The longer axis of the pentagon at the top of the
stone points N. and S., the shorter axis E. and W. 1t is
composed of Charnwood volcanic agglomerate.

Mr. J. Plant, F.G.S.;! gives a note upon this stone as
follows :—

¢¢ This monolith, standing in a field on a very ancient road called the ¢ Ridge
Way,’ running S.E. to Tilton-on-the-Hill, is upon an elevation commanding a
view of the surrounding country for many miles on all sides, and may have
served as a post of observation, or for a ‘beacon fire,” or for communication
signals of other beacon fires,” for which evidence exists in this county at
Borough Hill, lying due E. 7 miles. [Comparison may be drawn between
the use suggested for this stone and those of Beacon Hill and the other
eminences referred to anze.]

‘“ The monolith is remarkable for having its longer axis due N.and S.
There is a tradition which says it was called ‘ Mowde Bush Stone,’” and a
former owner of one of the large estates near Mountsorrel held a court at
that place called * Mowde Bush Court,’ and this landowner and his stewards
used to go to ‘ Mowde Bush Hill,” where the stone is, and cut a turf, which
was brought into court. The stone has been in its present position from time
immemorial.

““There is a general tradition also that it was usual for persons from
neighbouring districts to bring a turf and put on it.”

Whether this custom is a survival of a still more ancient
one is not known, but the site and orientation of the stone

point to an earlier usage than tradition assigns to it.
Reference to these monoliths has been made not because

Y Report of the British Association, 1879, 1880, p. 112.
D
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it is suggested that their first ceremonial or other usage—if
such has been the case—was coeval with the earliest man
in Leicestershire, but because they are of stone and relics of
the Ice Age which separates us from the earlier remains of
the Jurassic formations. Between the Jurassic formations
and the Stone Age there is a hiatus in Leicestershire, and
unless some implements to be mentioned hereafter are truly
Palzeolithic, these monoliths, and the rites, &c., connected
therewith, must then be referred either to the late Neolithic
Age (of which we have good local evidence) or, more pro-
bably, to the Bronze Age, in which the palstave, dagger,
and fibula played a part which speaks of a very much more
advanced state of civilisation than we meet with either in
Paleeolithic or Neolithic times. If to the former period,
though this is doubtful, then they are closely followed by
the implements, weapons, ornaments, or utensils of the
newer Stone Age.

We may notice here, in connection with the subject of
Druidic customs in Leicestershire, some remarks made by
Mr. T. L. Walker,! who suggests that Croft Hill corre-
sponded with a Gallic Mesomphalos, of which the following
is a transcript :—

‘ Every early nation appeared to have had its Sacred Hill or Omphalos.
In ancient Gaul there was said to have been a Mesomphalos in the centre of
the country, on the river Legre, or Loire, where the Druids met periodically
for special ceremonies and councils. This Mesomphalos was an isolated hill
in the midst of a plain, and was surrounded by a wall and ditch. The idea of
such a Mesomphalos was said to have been derived from the Druids of Britain.

‘“ Now, as no Druidical temple had yet been described in Britain at all
corresponding with the description of the Gallic Mesomphalos, and as Croft
Hill d#d so far correspond with it, as that it was an isolated hill in the midst of
a plain, nearly in the centre of the country, on the banks of the river Leire

or Soar, and having still traces of a ditch round its base, it seemed quite pos-
sible that this hill might have been the Mesomphalos of the British Druids.”

Nichols, in his Hiustory of Leicestershire?® figures a
flanged bronze celt of early type, found near the Fosse road

v Trans. Leicr. Lit. and Phil. Soc., Pt. V., 1853-55, 1879, pp. 163~64,
¢ Druidical Remains at Croft Hill.”
% Vol. iv. Pt. II.  Plate opposite p. 606,
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in Croft parish. An unlocalised specimen in the Leicester
Museum resembles the figure Nichols gives, and may be
the identical example.

‘Whatever value may be placed upon the foregoing re-
marks as to the use of Croft Hill in earlier times as a
Mesomphalos, the occurrence of the celt certainly indicates
the existence of Celtic peoples in the neighbourhood in the
Bronze Age.

We are forced by the unwritten past of this misty
era to rely solely upon actual religuie diluvianie as it
were, or mere chips of stone and flint. It may be we shall
find even proof of their use, as in the lodgment of a rough
stone celt in the skull or carcase of an animal or man slain
as food or in self-defence. These roughly-hewn and crude
celts, flakes and chips of the Paleeolithic Age, are all the
indications we obtain of the use of implements. Rough
drawings upon the bones of victims of the chase, like those
found on the Continent, have rarely been found in Great
Britain, except at the bone-caves of Creswell Crags in
Derbyshire.

The localisation of the finds of such tools and imple-
ments helps us to gauge the distribution of early man, and
that he was contemporary with the cave animals, too, is
evident from the skulls and bones of both man and animals
being found side by side in caves and rock-shelters.

The low, wild, and savage type of face and the mean-
shaped skull all tell a tale of evolution from the early
mammals of the pre-glacial epochs. The roughly-flayed
hide thrown over the skin, the unkempt hair, and nomadic
unrest of these early progenitors may in turn be suggested
by the paucity of the relics of their primitive state of
advancement and other evidence.

If we may judge from the relics of this prehistoric age
that are still preserved to us, we are bound to regard these
peoples as frequenters of the lowland marshes and peat-
bogs, amongst which the animals upon which they lived
spent the greater part of their existence. In the earliest
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epoch of the Stone Age there were many animals still sur-
viving which show that types of the northern, temperate,
and southern climates were commingled.

It is in the high-level gravels of river-drift that we find
evidence of palaeolithic man in England; and in these also
have been discovered remains of the Ibrown bear, grizzly
bear, ermine, totter, ffox, fwolf, cave-hyena, cave-lion,
Irish deer (elk), *extinct fallow deer, *reindeer, froe deer,
*red deer, musk sheep, *urus, *bison or aurochs, large
hippopotamus, *}wild boar, *}horse, woolly rhinoceros,
*smooth-skinned rhinoceros, *straight-tusked elephant,
*mammoth, lemming, pouched marmot, spermophile, fhare,
Tmouse.!

It is evident that Man lived a predatory life, and that his
customs and mode of life were most primitive. Most of the
animals indicated have left behind traces of their former
existence in the Soar valley.

According to the view taken by the Geological Survey,
there were three periods of what are called inter-glacial
and more temperate conditions, during which Early Paleseo-
lithic, Intermediate Paleeolithic, and Late Paleeolithic man
respectively, is regarded as having lived.

Alternating with these were periods of severe glacial
conditions, during which the Lower Boulder Clay, Chalky
Boulder Clay, and Hessle Boulder Clay were laid down by
ice agency in different parts of the country. This was
followed by a post-glacial period, in which Neolithic man
lived and developed.

Evidences of both the Lower and the Chalky Boulder
Clay, and a later Valley Drift, but differing somewhat
locally from the above grouping, are distinguished in
the glacial accumulations in Leicestershire. Thus there

! Those marked with an asterisk (¥) have been found in sands and gravels;
but as the mammoth and reindeer survive into the Neolithic times, it is diffi-
cult to say when the animals lived whose remains we find locally.

T Those thus marked are not found fossil, but occur in the county at the
present day.

1 Extinct within historic times.
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is no very great reason to doubt the occurrence of
paleeoliths, but, taken in conjunction with the discovery
of animals found with Paleeolithic man elsewhere, much
reason to believe in his former existence. But so far no
clearly paleeolithic implements have been discovered. Sir
John Evans considered it possible that palaeolithic im-
plements might be found north of the line drawn from
the Wash to the Bristol Channel, over which area boulder
clay deposits are universally distributed, and south of a
line drawn between these points paleeoliths occur at a
large number of localities. At Saltley in Warwickshire,
and Lincoln, both north of this line, palaeoliths have in fact
been found. And it is not without some support from the
local occurrence of extinct mammalia, such as the mammoth
and reindeer, associated elsewhere with paleeolithic imple-
ments, that we suggest that a crude type of flint, found in
Leicestershire, to all appearances worked, and exhibiting a
bulb of percussion, may be a true paleolith. One such
was found by the writer in a gravel-pit at Scraptoft, un-
fortunately not 7z szfx, but doubtless derived from the sands
and gravels there exhibited in section. And in looking
over some flints, &c., from the neighbourhood of Leicester,
now in the Museum collection, another example of almost
identical pattern and workmanship was found. This came
from near the river Soar in gravel, in excavations at Jarrom
Street, and it may be noted that numbers of bones, &c., of
mammalia, some extinct, have been discovered in the same
district. Two others of St. Acheul type! were found in
gravel at Drift Hill between Syston and Sileby. Whether
these flints are to be regarded as paleeolithic or not, the
existence of the mammalia does not preclude, but, on the
other hand, rather suggests, the presence of man in the same
district. They frequented the same low-lying ground, and
as man lived in the south and east of England during

1 These were found by Mr. J. W. Watts, and identified at the British
Museum as Paleolithic.
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Palaeolithic times, there is good ground for assuming his
existence elsewhere, especially in districts such as the
vicinity of Charnwood with its elevated hills, which we
have no reason to assume were ever entirely submerged
in the glacial epoch. But in all cases of this kind it
is-necessary to remember that implements of Paleolithic
form may have been used by Neolithic man.

On the east of the Soar valley we find the same general
kind of contour, but instead of level plains, as in the west,
the country consists of plateau-like hills, frequently undu-
lating to the east, and, where the escarpment of the Middle
Lias marl-stone runs in a zigzag manner from north to
south, forming a series of frontier-like bulwarks facing
mainly towards the western horizon, we find there are
a number of hills of some height scattered over this
district. Thus Whadborough Hill, near Tilton, is some
750 feet high ; Burrough Hill and Life Hill, near Billesdon
Coplow, reach 700 feet; and Tilton Hill and the high
ground around Belton, East Norton, Somerby, Stathern,
Harby, Waltham, and Belvoir, all afford excellent outlooks
over the surrounding grass-country ; and being flat-topped
or plateau-like, they have served the purpose of encamp-
ment, fortifications, burial grounds, barrows, tumuli, &ec.,
during no doubt a long series of different stages in the
gradual colonisation of theése islands by invading or immi-
grating nations in Roman and post-Roman times; whilst
there is little doubt that before them the Celtic tribes of
the Coritani—especially in late Celtic times, as shown
by the distribution of bronze objects discovered in this
district—were settled upon, or hard by, many of these
natural citadels, occupied doubtless also by man in the
Stone Age.
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PART II

MAN IN THE NEW STONE AGE, THE BRONZE
AND IRON AGES

¢ Arma antiqua manus, ungues, dentesque fuerunt,
Et lapides, et item silvarum fragmina rami,
Et flammae, atque ignes, postquam sunt cognita primum
Posterius ferri vis est aerisque reperta
Sed prius aeris erat quam ferri cognitus usus.”
—LUCRETIUS, lib, i. 1. 282.

When we turn to the end of the Stone Age or late Neo-
lithic times we find abundant evidence of man’s presence in
the county. By this time the climate had changed from a
dry cold, characteristic of the older Stone Age, to a temperate
and somewhat humid climate. The mammoth and other
mammalia had become extinct, and the reindeer had migrated
to the countries where it is found at the present day—Lap-
land and the farthest north—and with it went part of the
early Stone Age population.

Great Britain had become finally separated from the
Continent, and continental conditions no longer prevailed.

From a crude and savage state man had evolved into a
more civilised being. He converted the rude stone axe-
head of the earlier period into carefully ground and polished
celts. He had advanced to the conception of binding these
to a haft or handle from holding them simply in the hollow
of the hand; and by means of a sharp cutting-edge, he
was enabled to turn these implements or weapons to good
advantage, fashioning them no whit differently to those used
by the savage nations still living—or lately living—in the
conditions of a stone age.

He likewise made massive stone hammers with a skil-
fully drilled hole for the insertion of a shaft; with these he
could drive the piles of his lake-dwelling or other habitation
deep into the lake or ground. Everything now, in fact,
points to the establishment of more permanent settlements.
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Neatly chipped arrow-heads of stone, barbed or leaf-
shaped, indicate that he had conceived the idea of killing
his prey without coming to close quarters, and in this
circumstance there is exhibited a more marked degree of
the instinct of self-preservation than we can find in the
earlier Stone Age.

Carefully-made scrapers and knives, chisels, saws, &c.,
show that he was particular in his mode of feeding, &c.
He also fashioned mortars and pestles for grinding
corn, and tilled the soil, domesticating animals for his
own use.

That he had found out the secret of making pottery, by
burning and modelling clay, sometimes with ornament, is
evident from the recurrence of urns in the barrows.

Textile fabrics likewise were made by these still
primitive people, and we find instances of the use of the
early weaving apparatus in the polished pebbles bored
to serve as a weight to the spindle-whorl. Fire was
obtained (as perhaps in the previous age) by striking
flints together, a discovery which would naturally follow
from the manufacture of the implements themselves; and
it is interesting to note that until the early Victorian era
this method was in use in Europe not only for flashing
fire in the pan of weapons of warfare, but also for obtain-
ing light for domestic arrangements. At the present day
this method survives amongst certain primitive tribes.

The burial of the dead was an important feature of
Neolithic times. The barrows of this period are long-
shaped, pointing east and west,! and contain sepulchral
urns with calcined bones and other objects which were
buried with the dead.

To this period locally we may possibly assign in part
both the erection of the structures and the inception of
the curious rites and ceremonies connected with megalithic
monuments and the beginning of Druidic worship. Sun,

! One at Ratcliffe or Shipley Mill is nearly 300 feet long and 50 broad,
but, though partly excavated, nothing is recorded from it.



PREHISTORIC LEICESTERSHIRE 57

moon, stars, and other natural objects or phenomena were
worshipped ; and amulets and charms find their place in
the tomb of the dead.

Besides stone, clay, and wood, bone and other materials
were used in this age, and doubtless many of the bones of
cervine animals that are found cut and pick-shaped, as at
Barrow-on-Soar, belong to this time. Bone pins and other
objects, as well as teeth of the wild boar pierced for sus-
pension, are not uncommon, but may be rather later in
date or of the Bronze Age.

It is indeed sometimes difficult to draw any sharp line
of demarcation between the Stone, Bronze, or Iron Ages,
and to assign to either of these the anomalous articles of
horn, bone, and wood, &c., sometimes found in association
with other articles of undoubted Stone, Bronze, or Iron
Age type, and the terms British or Celtic likewise cannot be
restricted in any more rigid 2 manner to a definite period.

So far as the Neolithic phase is concerned, we know it
lasted down to about 1800 B.C.! More than this we cannot
affirm. In Leicestershire we find a considerable number of
objects that may be referred to the Neolithic Age, typical
mainly of the latter portion of that period. Stone celts
have been found at Battle Flat, Cliff Hill, and a beautifully
shaped spatulate polished celt was discovered there and
presented to Leicester Museum in 1861. A large ochreous
flint celt was found on Ashby Wolds in 1809 in the corner
of a field where the lane to Blackfordby diverges from the
Overseal and Ashby turnpike road.

Edward Mammatt,2 an authority on coal-mining in this
county, wrote of the antiquity of the workings :(—

“The outcrop of the coal in the parishes adjoining Ashby has been

worked at early periods. In Measham, where the bed was not more than
40 or 50 feet from the surface, indications of ancient workings were

! But this varied in different parts of the country, the Neolithic phase
beginning earlier in S. England. Type and date are not synonymous in
prehistoric sense by any means.

2 Geological Facts, 1834, p. 9.
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found—in stone hammer-heads and large wedges of flint with hazel withes
round them; also wheels of solid wood about 18 inches in diameter. In
the north-west corner of Ashby parish, in South Wood, and at Heath-End
very extensive remains of iron furnaces appear ; the surface is exceedingly
broken, and scori fill a valley of considerable size.”

Thus there is little doubt that coal was worked in
prehistoric times.

Celts of different types and shapes have been discovered
at Ratcliffe, at Belgrave Gravel Pit, and at Butt Close
Lane, Leicester, 12 feet below the surface, Noseley,
Shackerstone, Stoney Stanton, 2% feet below the surface,
Witherley, Hastwell Common. At the Abbey Park an
adze-shaped flint, notched at one end, was found in the
Abbey meadow.

Portion of a ‘greenstone” celt was found in August
1908 by the writer in the Gipsy Lane Brickpit, near
Leicester, doubtless derived from beds above. A nicely
polished light buff celt was also found at Kirby Muxloe,
and others have occurred at Loughborough.

Perforated axe-heads have been found at Barrow-on-
Soar, Leicester Cemetery, and Witherley. Perforated stone
discs were found under a Roman pavement in Bath Street,
at Bottesford, and another was found by ‘ Flint Jack,” a
clever manufacturer of flint “ forgeries,” on a grotto, as he
affirmed. Perforated hammer-heads have been obtained at
Wharf Street, 12 feet deep, Anstey, Frisby, and at East
Leake, Nottinghamshire.

A stone pestle or muller was found at CIliff Hill, and
another near Leicester, and one is recorded by Sir John
Evans from Osbaston.

A hammer-stone, possibly used as a stone bat or club,
like those used at the present day by savage tribes, was
found in the bed of the river Soar near the Abbey meadow.

Circular polished pebbles, perhaps used as spindle-
whorls, have been found at Thurnby and Silver Street,
Leicester. The latter may be Roman. Likewise pierced,
but in this case naturally, is a specimen of a  witch-stone "
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from Wymeswold, presented to Leicester Museum by Mr.
T. R. Potter, a local antiquary, author of Charnwood
Forest. Sir John Evans!® says the Scotch examples are
“hung up in the byres as a protection for the cattle,” and
of the Leicestershire example writes :—

“In the museum at Leicester is a ¢witch-stone’ from Wymeswold, a
pebble with a natural hole towards one end, which has been preserved for
many generations in one family, and has had great virtues attributed to it. It
prevented the entrance of fairies into the dairy ; it preserved milk from taint ;
it kept off diseases, and charmed off warts, and seems to have been valuable
alike to man and beast,”

Of pebbles found in barrows, Sir John Evans also
writes (/bid., p. 467) :—

‘¢ A beautiful pink pebble, supposed to have been placed with the body as

a token of affection, was found in a sepulchral cist at Breedon, Leicestershire ;

some querns and an iron knife appear to have accompanied the interment, so
that it may belong to a comparatively late period.”

Doubtless the two last objects are of much later date,
but they are here referred to as being stone articles.

Many querns of different types, used for grinding corn,
have been found in Leicestershire, and they are likewise
of much later date for the most part, the use of the large
millstone turned by oxen surviving until quite recent times.

Rings of burnt clay found at Barrow-on-Soar and at
Leicester may belong to this period, but their use is not
really known. Possibly, as has been suggested, they were
used as net-sinkers. Two are in Leicester Museum.

A “strike-a-light” of flint was found at Aylestone, with
flint scrapers and a spall. A curiously shaped flake used
as a scraper, discoloured as though by use, was found upon
a gravel drive at South Croxton by the writer, whilst others
have been found at Dane Hills, Belgrave, Shoulder-of-
Mutton Hill, Cherry Orchard, and part of a lance-head
near the Pavilion, Victoria Park.

Flint arrow-heads, barbed and leaf-shaped, have been

1 The Ancient Stone Implements, Weapons, and Ornaments of Great
Britain, 2nd ed., revised 1897, p. 470,
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found at Croxton Kerrial, Burrough Hill, Mountsorrel
Syston, Spinney Hill, Leicester, and Bede House meadows.
A specimen resembling a hammer-head {was found lying on
the side of a path in allotments near the Evington Brook,
Leicester, near the last locality.

What may be regarded as pounding-stones of quartzite
have been found near the West Bridge, and similar stones
have occurred at Scraptoft, and also at Barrow-on-Soar.

A natural pebble of flint bored by a sponge, found at
Leicester, was perhaps used as a  witch-stone” or a
spindle-whorl or hammer-head.

A flint core from which flakes have been struck was
found in 1902 at Swithland, and more recently a block of
flint resembling a core, having its sides shaped by flaking,
was found at Tilton by the writer.

It is obvious that when we come to consider the relics of
the next phase of civilisation, viz., that of the Bronze Age,
we are dealing with a period in which the original inhabi-
tants of this country had progressed very rapidly towards a
knowledge of the secret of the art of working metals and
making alloys in their true proportion. This secret, like
others, came doubtless from the Continent, brought over by
immigrant Celts from Gaul or the Rhine district.

The Stone, Bronze, and Iron Ages are to be regarded
as phases of civilisation rather than periods of time. We
have indications that they merge into each other, and also
that they were not synchronous all the world over.

‘We may, however, roughly fix the close of the Stone
Age at about 1800 B.C., for the Pheenicians certainly visited
these islands between 1600 and 1500 B.C. (possibly earlier),
and the use of bronze (an alloy of tin and copper in the pro-
portion of one to ten) was then known to the aboriginal
inhabitants of this country. It is more difficult, perhaps, to
draw any line between the Bronze and Iron Age than
between the former and the Stone Age. We therefore
propose to deal with the periods during which the early
inhabitants had attained to a knowledge of metallurgy
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together. Broadly speaking, the Bronze Age culminated
about 500 B.C., but bronze was used later when iron was
becoming to be more universally employed, that is onwards
into late Celtic ! and early British phases of culture.

A further point to be noted in the close of the Stone
Age and the introduction of metal was the difference in the
character of the barrows used for burial. In the Bronze
and Iron Ages they were round, and generally found to
contain both burnt and unburnt burials, which were de-
posited in crudely ornamented earthen sepulchral urns,
cinerary urns, with which also occur drinking cups, food
vessels, and incense cups.

Cinerary urns used for containing the ashes of cremated
human bones have been discovered at Aylestone, Market
Bosworth, Mountsorrel, Noseley, Stockerston, and Round
Hill, Syston. At Round Hill human bones were found in
the urn. An incense cup was discovered at Mountsorrel
Hill. It was said to have contained fragments of bones,
and coins of Hadrian, Julia, &c. But Mr. C. Roach Smith
suggested that the latter were not associated with it, or, if
so, only by reason of the place being resorted to through
successive ages for burial, the hill affording a natural strong-
hold to early British tribes before Roman times.

The objects, called celts, used as implements or weapons,
fastened to a wooden haft by means of withies or fibre,
were now of bronze instead of stone. They were flanged
or socketed, and provided with loops for attachment. The
moulds for these palstaves are occasionally found. Thus
there is half of one in Leicester Museum, evidently used for
casting a socketed celt with a loop. In this example traces
of lead may still be seen in the loop groove. This was
found on the summit of Beacon Hill, where also a flat celt
was found. In 1858 a “hoard” of bronze celts, &c., was

1 It has been pointed out that the Kelts of philology (Gaels and Brythons),
migrating from the Continent in the fourth century B.C., are the Kymry or
Welsh, and must be distinguished from the Kelts of history (of Central France,
Goidels), who migrated from the Continent in the fifth and sixth centuries
B.C., and became the Gaelic of Ireland, Isle of Man, and Scotland.
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discovered, consisting of a socketed celt, a socketed gouge
or chisel, two leaf-shaped spear-heads with rivet-holes
through the sockets and an armlet. Bone, pottery, and
burnt clay and charcoal were associated with the articles
enumerated. These objects are of late Bronze Age,
but at the foot of the hill an early form of flat celt was
found in ploughing a field. The extensive character of
this find at Beacon Hill suggests the existence of a con-
siderable celt industry. One of the specimens contained
traces of lead, suggesting the use of lead castings, and
Mr. E. K. Clark, who examined one, thought that though
bronze castings occur, the usual method was to cast in
lead. The armlet found was dug up fifty yards from the
celts. Roman remains have been found here also, so that
the place was used during a long period, doubtless for
defensive purposes.

The interest in Beacon Hill lies in the fact that it is one
of the very few Bronze Age Settlements known up to the
present. The occurrence of both early and late types of
celt points to its utilisation as a stronghold for some time.
Its proximity to the ancient prehistoric road from Saltby
suggests that it was used for a protection to the early
traders in salt on their way to and fro between Nantwich
and Saltfleet, and thence by water to Holland.

A bronze celt with stop-ridges was found whilst ditching
at Bardon Hill about 1875, and likewise a bronze spear-head
with socket and small bar-loops of English type. Other
celts have been discovered in the same district, showing
that Charnwood was well populated by early British tribes.
Thus Potter figures one in his Charnwood Forest, from
Benscliffe, found during planting operations. Nichols gives
an illustration of a series of twelve bronze objects! found
6 feet below the surface at Husband’s Bosworth in 1801
in Gravel Pit Close, consisting of four looped and socketed
celts, two socketed celts without loops, three socketed

L History of Leicestershire, vol. iii. Pt. 1L, p. 1126,

Sl L
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gouges, two spear-heads, and an object which may be a
ferrule of a spear-head.

In the Leicester Museum there is a flanged celt which
resembles one figured by Nichols,! found near the Fosse
Road at Croft. The same author? figures two other socketed
and looped celts found on Bosworth Field.

A celt in the Leicester Museum, with stop-ridges and
loops, is said to have been saved from a refuse-heap of old
iron, &c., in Leicester, but it is not known whether it is of
local origin. A socketed celt has been found also in the
neighbourhood of Syston, near the river Soar and Fosse
Road.

Of daggers several have been found in the town or
county of Leicester. Thus one was discovered during
excavations for the Flood sewer, Abbey meadow, 12 feet
below the surface. Another was found with a fragment of
a human skull in the river Wreake, Syston, 19 feet below
the surface, and 11 feet below the bed of the river, lying on
red marl, and under 17 or 18 feet of bluish mud, in 1873.

In excavating a ditch on the Great Northern Railway
near Ingarsby Station, close to which there are remains
of tumuli and earthworks, a leaf-shaped bronze dagger
was found; but it was brought in gravel from the Trent
district, so its locality is doubtful.

A broad leaf-shaped knife-dagger with nine rivets, with
portion of the bone handle, used for burial with the dead,
Sir Augustus Franks called a good sepulchral specimen,
early Bronze Age, and Mr. Harrison 3 says it was found
“resting on a human skull.” It was discovered with the
remains of a human skeleton, about 2 feet deep, resting on
the gravel, in Sydney Street, Leicester, about 7 feet from
the edge of the foot road leading to Belgrave, in 1868.

The rest of the objects found in the county rather bespeak
a late Celtic Age, when iron had been introduced by a

1 0p. cit., vol. iv. Pt. II,, p. 606.
2 0p. cit., vol. iv. Pt. I1., plate opposite p. 557.
3 Geol. Leics. and Rutland, 1879, p. 51.
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second immigration of Brythons from the Continent, followed
by Belgic incursions preceding the Roman invasion.

The most interesting of these objects are undoubtedly
the remains of wooden buckets with staves bound with
bronze, and bearing characteristic ring ornament of British
type with figures of ox-heads of the long-fronted prehistoric
type. A bronze vertical strap bears ornament of spiral
scrolls with raised rings at intervals. The handle and
basal bronze supports are likewise elegantly ornamented
with concentric ornament and beadwork. This bucket,
which has been restored, came from a Roman well at
Mountsorrel. The Mountsorrel bucket is of great interest,
because it has been said that it is one of the very few
examples of native manufacture. Of the Aylesford and
Marlborough buckets, with which it has been compared,
Dr. A. J. Evans writes (22 £#2.) :—

‘¢ With regard to the Aylesford bucket, I do not intend to say ! that it was
of foreign manufacture, but that it presents decorative features in close relation
with continental types. There is perhaps more ground for thinking that the
Marlborough bucket may be of Armorican importation.”

The Mountsorrel bucket was found in a Roman well,
and with it an undoubted Bronze Age urn, so that its Celtic
age may be presumed to be correct. But, as in the case of
the Twyford bucket fragments, where the other objects were
Anglo-Saxon, there is a very close resemblance in the art
exhibited, which is of a low zoomorphic type, to that found
in some Anglo-Saxon fibulae, where in a more conventional
form the long-fronted ox is represented in a specimen of
local origin from Westcotes (see 7#f/7a). At a place between
Twyford and Burrough Hill a portion of another bucket,
with staves and part of the handle, was found. The handle
is similar to that of the Mountsorrel bucket. With it a
socketed celt is said to have been found. These objects
prove that the civilisation at this period was a great
advance upon that of the Stone Age; for in this ornate

1 As quoted in the Vict, Hist. Leicestershire.
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and elegantly-made utensil we see evidence of a well-
appointed, primitive homestead of some powerful Celtic
chieftain.

In the remains also of personal ornaments, such as
armlets, we have proof of the existence of some degree of
luxury and taste amongst our early pre-Roman forefathers.

That the horse now played an important part in the his-
tory of warfare and in agricultural or purely civic operations,
is clear from the occurrence of trappings and fragments,
possibly of chariot wheels. Thus at Great Easton, in the
S.E. of the county, a bronze object, believed to be part of
a horse’s bridle, was found, and another at Bath Lane, 5 feet
from the surface. And at High Cross an object consisting
of “two pieces connected by a hollow-necked spindle ” was
found. Nichols figures a fragment similar to this—possibly
an armlet—from Husband’s Bosworth.

In the British Museum there is a bronze terret, an object
used as a guide-ring for the reins of a horse’s harness,
found at Leicester.

It is with some doubt we refer to this late Celtic period
some urns found at Willoughby Waterless, Cook’s brick-
yard, Leicester, and elsewhere, as between Twyford and
Burrough-on-the-Hill.

The mode of burial of this late period is illustrated by
the discovery of a cist at Stonton Wyville in 1869, comprised
of slabs of stone set up in the form of a cist, containing a
skeleton with legs gathered up lying on its side. These
were found with the bones, ashes, and charcoal, and the
cist was 6 feet below the surface.

Belonging to the latest period of British history preced-
ing the Roman occupation are some coins found at Hallaton,
near Leicester, and at Loughborough. These belong, so
far as they have been deciphered, to Tascovianus, who was
father of the celebrated Cunobelinus, and were struck
probably at Verulamium.

A note may be added as to some of the remains of
E
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fortresses, strongholds, tumuli, &c., scattered up and down
the county in great profusion and variety.

The tumuli are frequent. Inone at Round Hill, Barkby,
a Roman urn was found, and Roman remains were found
in another at Barrow-on-Soar. There are others at Croxton
Kerrial and Gaddesby. At Higham-on-the-Hill a very
ancient oak cross was found. A bell-shaped barrow at
Kibworth Harcourt contained a bone bodkin, and traces of
a paved floor were discovered, also ashes, fragments of
burnt wood, bones, teeth, pottery, and iron. There are
other tumuli at Kirby Bellars, Leicester Castle, Medbourne,
Melton, Peckleton, Ratcliffe-on-the-Wreake (only example
of a Neolithic long barrow), Saltby, Shawell, where there
is a bell-shaped barrow, Stoke Golding, Tilton, Ingarsby,
and elsewhere.

Probably of British Age are the interesting strongholds
at Billesdon and Mountsorrel that come under the heading
of promontory fortresses, which are rendered impregnable
because composed of cliff-like earthworks, readily held by
a few chosen men, the natural fastness being strengthened
by dyke or mound. Flint arrow-heads and Celtic utensils
and pottery have been discovered at Mountsorrel.

The bulwarks at Breedon-on-the-Hill, the flat-topped
plateau of Burrough, where probably both Celtic and Roman
encampments were made, Beacon Hill with its evident traces
of early British occupation, which are still evident apart
from the bronze relics already mentioned, and the elaborate
earthworks at Sanvey Castle near Owston Wood are natural
sites for primitive fortifications. Tilton, Whadborough Hill,
Robin-a-Tiptoes, Colborough, and other elevations may all
be described as hill forts, though the latter is more naturally
regarded as a camp of refuge, situated upon lower ground
than the last-named eminences. At Breedon querns and
later relics have been found. Burrough has afforded traces
of flint arrow-heads.

Enclosures consisting of simply defended earthworks
are numerous, and are to be seen at Belton, Burton Overy,
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Hallaton, Ingarsby, Knaptoft, Lubenham, Witherley or
Mancetter on the Watling Street, Market Harborough,
Ratby, Sapcote, and Tilton. At Mancetter celts and flint
implements and Roman coins have been discovered. Most
of these enclosures were doubtless used either in Celtic or
Roman times. That at Ingarsby has been utilised since
those periods, and that at Thorpe Arnold has doubtless
been used as a British encampment before it was adapted in
the Middle Ages for purpose of defence.

There are also many earthworks that cannot be placed
in any of the above categories. Such are the elaborate
earthworks called King Lud's entrenchments at Croxton
Kerrial. At Knaptoft doubtless there was an early British
camp. The earthworks at Dane Hills, Leicester, were pro-
bably utilised in Celtic times since flint flakes have been
found, before the people whose name they bear pitched
upon them as a natural encampment. Likewise the Raw
Dykes were thrown up when the county was as yet unsub-
jugated by Roman rule. This encampment at Leicester
has always excited attention. Of these earthworks, which
were much more extensive than they are now, Mr. Hollings
wrote :— '

““ That the central part of the modern Leicester is included within the lines
of an ancient Roman encampment may be almost indisputably proved. It
does not, however, follow that we must look to precisely the same site for the
original Celtic Raz% or fortified settlement. For obvious reasons a military
station would scarcely in the first instance be formed in such a manner as to
include within the same defences the homes of a disaffected population and
the dwellings of the conquerors ; but rather on some rising ground in the
neighbourhood, which united the advantage of security with the ready com-
mand of supplies from a mart close at hand. It is for this reason I am inclined
to believe that the singular double embankments, of which a portion may still
be seen close to the Aylestone toll-gate, but which once extended from the
vicinity of the South-Gates to a distance of about half-a-mile, forming a kind
of rude arc of which the river Soar might be regarded as the chord, are to be
regarded as the boundary of the British stronghold or location, to which the
Roman Ratae was indebted for its name. The words of Casar, known to
every classical student, are full authority for the fact, that the inhabitants in
his day were accustomed to protect their residences with earthworks of this
description, ¢ Oppidum autem Britanni vocant, quum sylvas impeditas vallo
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of a coin of Augustan age (B.C. 2g-14) at St. Nicholas
Square, that intimacy with Rome was not broken. Near
the Bow Bridge, Leicester, and at High Cross also, coins
of Caligula (A.D. 37—41) have been unearthed, and at
Leicester we find evidence of the coins of Claudius (A.D.
41-54).

It was in A.D. 43 that Claudius despatched Aulus Plau-
tius to Britain with four legions to carry out the occupation
of the country. These were the second, ninth, fourteenth,
and twentieth legions. The ninth remained in the south
under the propraetorship of Suetonius Paulinus, the others
served in Wales, and doubtless Caerleon and Chester arose
in time as towns as a result of this campaign. About the
middle of the century the central districts were first brought
under subjection. In this connection we may refer to some
remarks made by Mr. J. F. Hollings in an abstract of a
lecture on ‘“ Roman Leicester ”: *—

“ The inhabitants of Britain at that time were not savages ; their civilisa-
tion was at least equal to that of Greece in the time of Homer. Their power
as warriors was sufficient to frustrate the first attempts of Ceesar to subjugate
the island. Ten years of war and thirty pitched battles only brought the
Romans to the Severn. Leicestershire was not conquered till about the year
50 A.D., when the Roman general, Ostorius, having resolved to form a line
of forts across the centre of Britain, was opposed by the Iceni, who entrenched
themselves in a great camp, probably that of Borrough Hill, but who were
beaten after an obstinate struggle and their army annihilated.”

It should be remarked that the Borough Hill here
mentioned is not the Leicestershire one, but is situated
near Daventry, and is the Roman Bennavenna. The pre-
sence of the Propreetor Ostorius Scapula in Leicestershire
is perhaps best fixed by the perpetuation of his memory in
the name assigned to a passage over a brook close to the
village of Gaddesby, which is called Oszor-ford, as remarked
by T. R. Potter.?

The closing years of the first century must have

L Tyans. Leicr. Lit. and Phil. Soc., Part V., 1850-55, 1879, p. 141.
2 As a Saxon suffix is added to the word, it was doubtless used later
in the days of the Anglo-Saxons as a ford.
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witnessed a great development in the size and status of
Roman Leicester.

Coins of Germanicus, Nero, Otho, Vespasian are fre-
quent, especially the latter (and Vespasian captained the
second legion in Britain before he became Emperor)—Titus,
Domitian, Nerva, Trajan, Sabina continue the record of
chronology up to the time of Hadrian (A.D. 117-138) ; whilst
evidence from the character of the Roman architectural
remains points to the existence of large buildings with
heavy plinths and capitals by the beginning of the second
century. Doubtless many of these were erected during the
time of Julius Agricola (A.D. 80-90). Many pieces of the
beautiful so-called Samian ware, or ‘“ Terra Sigillata,” made
abroad and imported, bear potters’ marks which indicate that
they belong to the type of ware termed ‘“ La Graufesenque,”
which was made between 16 and 80 A.D. Such are those
stamped with the names ¢ Aeternim, Aviti,” &c., found in
Berridge Street and Sycamore Lane.

We now come to one of the most important relics of
Roman activity in Leicestershire, viz., the Roman milliaire
or milestone, discovered nearly one hundred and fifty years
ago at Thurmaston, dedicated to the Emperor Hadrian.
Hadrian was tribune first in A.D. 105. He was tribune
again and for the second time consul in 118, in the first
year of his imperial rule. He was consul for the third
time in 119. Trajan died in August 117, so that the date
of the milestone, as revealed by the inscription, would be
120 A.D., in which year we know he visited Britain, and
doubtless made a triumphal entry to Leicester and other
Roman towns.

The Latin inscription on this stone, which was the first
of its kind discovered in Britain, runs :—

IMP. CA S
DV. TRAIAN PARTH FD . .. EP
AIAN. HADRIAN ... B
POT IV cos III A RATIS
IL
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which when extended reads as under :—

IMP(ERATORE) CA(E)S(ARE), D(I)V(I) TRAIAN(I) PARTH(ICI)
F(ILIO), D(IVI NERVAE). (N)EP(OTE) (TR)AIAN(O) HADRIAN(O)
(AUGUSTO PATRE PATRIAZE TRI)B(UNICIA) POT(ESTATE) IV,
COMN)S(ULE) III, A RATIS (Millia passuum) II.

When translated this is explained as follows :—

‘“In the reign of Ceesar Traianus Hadrianus, son of the divine Traianus
Parthicus, and grandson of the divine Nerva Augustus, father of his country,
holding the Tribunician power in the fourth year, consul for the third year.
From Ratae 2 miles.”

This signal memorial of Roman power in Leicestershire
survived many vagaries of fortune. It was first discovered
in 1771 by some workmen when digging for gravel close to
the Melton road or Via Fossana, and about 1 mile south
of Thurmaston, or 2 miles from the present Clock Tower.
It was found near a square piece of solid masonry which
had served for a stepping-stone or horse-block. This latter
may have been at one of the posting-houses, mutationes
or mansiones, where post-horses were kept in charge of
postillions (veredarii), which were distributed regularly
along the course of a great Roman highway such as the
Fosse, or it may have been one of the places of entertain-
ment (deversoria, caupone), &c., inns set apart for the
refreshment of men and horses. The discovery of the
milestone with its inscription so clearly indicating that
Roman Leicester was situated 2 miles south, z.e. upon the
site of the present modern town of Leicester, seems to
have excited little or no curiosity at the time. Indeed, it
was conveyed to the garden of a Mr. Goodrich of Thur-
maston with the object of utilising it as a garden-roller!
Had it actually been converted into the latter, it would
have been rather a ponderous object to manipulate, for,
of columnar form, it is 3 feet 6 inches in height and 23
inches in diameter; it is of a durable millstone grit from
Derbyshire, and has been repaired with sandstone and
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oolite. Unfortunately it appears to have suffered much
in its subsequent travels, and has apparently been re-cut.

In Mr. Goodrich’s garden it was seen by Dr. Percy,
Bishop of Dromore, editor of Reliques of Ancient Poetry,
and he made some sort of research into its former use.
This did not result in any immediate attempt to preserve
it.  For it was by order of one of the high-road com-
missioners removed to the newly-built Thurmaston turn-
pike house, the intention being to break it up for macadam.
But the interest aroused by Dr. Percy'’s inquiries prevented
such an act of vandalism, though this monument of former
days was still left uncared for. However, Dr. Farmer,
sometime Master of Emmanuel College, Cambridge, care-
fully transcribed the inscription, then fairly fresh, and
communicated the results of his examination to different
societies, with the effect of arousing widespread interest in
the stone, and no little ingenious though whimsical explana-
tion of the legend it bore was evoked thereby.

Then in 1783, twelve years after its first discovery, the
Leicester Corporation had it removed and mounted upon a
square stone pedestal, capped by a cone-shaped stone in
which a lamp was fixed, and placed in the highway near
Belgrave Gate, where for forty-one years it remained,
otherwise unprotected, and exposed to atmospheric action
and the possibility of wanton defacement by loungers in
the square or passers-by. In 1824 it was repaired, the
lamp was removed, and a stone cross fixed in its place.
It was protected by iron rails and covered with a coat
of paint! In 1844 the Literary and Philosophical Society
memorialised the Corporation, and it was thereupon taken
down and placed in the Museum of the Mechanics’ Institute
in Wellington Street. From there, upon the formation of
the present museum in the New Walk in 1849, it was
again removed, and is now exhibited in the Annexe of
that Institution, where it is suitably arranged amongst
other Roman architectural remains. The wonder is that,
after so many and varied incidents in the course of its



74 MEMORIALS OF OLD LEICESTERSHIRE

career from its first discovery, it should have survived at
all to testify to the undoubted importance of Leicester
as a Roman town in Hadrian’s day, serving at once to
establish both the position of Ratae and its identity with
the modern town.

Of this notable object Professor F. Haverfield writes
(¢n lize): ““The date is about A.D. 120-121. It cannot be
called the oldest milestone in Britain, as there are others of
about the same age which are not dated so precisely, but
may be a year or two older, o a few years later, or pre-
cisely the same date. There are others more perfect in
form and in lettering, in my judgment. I think the lettering
on it has been unskilfully or wilfully tampered with, but it
is quite a good specimen.”

Long ere this milestone was cut and inscribed, the town
of Ratae had assumed a definite shape. The extent of the
settlement, a stipendiary city, was considerable ; the walls,
which, however, were of later date and probably built in
Constantine’s reign, very likely coincided more or less with
those of the later medieeval town.

The shape of the town was approximately rectangular,
the length from north to south being 2780 feet and the
breadth 1740 feet.

It was bounded on the west by a wall running from
near St. Mary’s Church to Soar Lane, the river lying to
the west and forming an excellent natural line of defence
upon that side. The north wall ran along Soar Lane and
Sanvey Gate; the east side was bounded by a wall run-
ning along Gallowtree Gate as far as Horsefair Street;
and the south wall connected this with the first-named
point. Evidence of the existence of the north, south,
and east gates is preserved in the local names. Probably
the western gate, also of late date, was formed by the
curious structure termed the Jewry Wall, a fine pile of
Roman masonry, which has perhaps excited more specula-
tion and has been the subject of more controversy than any
other early antiquity found in Leicester, with the possible
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exception of the nature of the legend of the tessellated
pavement, which probably represents Cyparissus and the
Stag.

Within this area innumerable specimens of Roman
remains of every description have been found more fre-
quently and in greater abundance than in the surrounding
neighbourhood, except in the vicinity of villas such as those
at Westcotes and the Cherry Orchard.

Of first interest are the remains of the elaborate and richly
ornamented tessellated pavements, of which a large number
have been discovered, either within the immediate precincts
of the town itself or upon the sites of some outlying villas
or settlements. We have evidence of over twenty examples
of pavements discovered upon the site of Roman Leicester
itself, some of which can be seen 7n sitx, whilst others are
exhibited in the Annexe set apart for the bulkier Roman
remains in the Leicester Museum.

One of these was one found in 1667, 12 feet below the
surface, near the Water House, ‘“next to the west end
of the Friars on the site of Johnson’s Buildings.” Unfortu-
nately, in the case of some of the early pavements recorded
by Burton, Stukeley, Throsby, and Nichols, details are
lacking as to their character, extent, &c. In the case of
the next, however, discovered in 1675 opposite the elm-
trees near All Saints’ Church, there is no need to speculate,
for this fine example, one of nine perhaps, is exhibited in
the Leicester Museum. The panel portrays a male figure
on the right, nude, except for a mantle carelessly flung over
the arm; the central figure is a stag; and to the left is
Cupid about to discharge an arrow into the stag’s heart.
The most probable legend that this panel is intended to
illustrate is that of Cyparissus and the Stag. With the
exception of this pavement, found with two others of plain
design in St. Nicholas Street in 1898, in which the cen-
tral panel depicts a peacock with spreading tail; and one
found at the Cherry Orchard, Danett’s Hall, where leaping
dolphins are represented worked into a geometrical pattern
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all the rest of the tessellated floors are of geometrical
design varied with floral patterns, the plainer pavements
serving doubtless for corridors or vestibules. Such are
those found under No. 18 High Cross Street and under
Mr. King’s house in 1685. Carte records (in Nichols)
one found in 1723 at White Lion Inn, and Nichols
mentions one found in 1747 at Vauxhall Wharf “in a
bathing-room near the river which now rises and damages
them,” and he figures three very interesting ones of geo-
metrical pattern found in 1754 at the Blackfriars, 35
yards from the river Soar, under a stable, which were
in line with each other. These and other architectural
remains to be mentioned subsequently indicate that in
the vicinity of the western gate, as was usual in Roman
towns, the principal public buildings and residences were
clustered together. Nichols likewise mentions a pavement
found beneath the Recruiting Sergeant’s Inn, St. Nicholas
Street, and Throsby records one found on the site of the
County Gaol, where Free School Lane turns from High
Cross Street. One was discovered under the south aisle
of St. Martin’s Church in 1773, and in 1794 in the Grey
Friars, 6 feet below the surface on the south side of St.
Martin’'s Churchyard. On the other side of the river
Soar, at the Cherry Orchard, Danett's Hall, Nichols
records the discovery of pavements in 1782. But these
were not subsequently laid bare and partly removed until
1851 and 1868. Here a house of the courtyard type
formed the villa or residence of some Roman official or
Romano-British magnate. Two corridors, in addition to
four pavements, were discovered. Parts of these are now
in Leicester Museum with a plan of the entire excavated
remains. A very fine pavement, now to be seen under
the Great Central Railway Passenger Station, was found
in 1830 at the corner where Friars’ Causeway met Jewry
Wall Street. It was again brought to light in 188s.
In 1839 some pavements were discovered in Vine Street,
which are now in the Leicester Museum, with ornament
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of flowers and vases and geometrical pattern, and in the
same year one was unearthed in excavations from St.
Nicholas Street to Talbot Lane, and again in 188g.

During the last half of the nineteenth century sewerage
excavations, highway improvements, street widening, &c.,
had the effect of bringing to light numbers of archaeological
remains, and amongst these were pavements discovered in
1866 at Southgate Street, in 1871 in Silver Street (only
2} feet below the surface), with guilloche pattern; Horse-
fair Street in 1875, on the site of the New Opera House;
Silver Street in 1876; and one in 1885 in Sarah Street,
Old Bath Lane, 12 feet by 14 feet by 3 to 4 feet, which was
below the river level.

In addition to those previously mentioned, during the
widening of the High Street some fragments were dis-
covered at the corner of High Street and High Cross Street,
which are now in the Leicester Museum, and two pieces
unfortunately destroyed, found opposite St. Martin’s Church
in 1902. Two pieces were unearthed recently in Town Hall
Lane (1902) and in High Street (1903). In the last case,
according to a report in the local papers, ‘“ both squares
slant considerably when compared with the present eleva-
tion of the adjacent land, though whether this is due to
depression or whether the lay of the land has since altered
cannot, of course, be determined.”

It will be noticed that all these pavements, with the
exception of those found at the Cherry Orchard, a suburban
site, were discovered within a very narrow compass, within
an area, in fact, circumscribed by the lines already indicated
as representing the walls of Roman Leicester. Furthermore
these remains of a former magnificence all lie chiefly along
the probable route of the more important highways, namely,
High Cross Street and High Street, so far as remains
hitherto discovered enable us to reconstruct the lines of
the Roman street system.

In addition to these pavements we have further indubi-
table evidence of the permanence of the settlement of the
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Romans in Leicester, in the discovery of large numbers of
plinths, bases, mouldings, heads or capitals of massive and
bulky Roman columns (many found 7 sitx), some of Corin-
thian, Doric, or Attic design, others showing Byzantine
influence, and some bearing traces of fire and lead, or other-
wise exhibiting marks of use or ill-use, in the mutilation to
which they have been subjected. With these also occur
stone gutters, and a curious stone tank found in High
Cross Street. Most of these columns, &c., were found in
St. Nicholas Street,! High Cross Street, under or near St.
Martin’s Church, where extensive remains of walls, bases
of Doric columns, and other architectural remains forming
a colonnade, indicated what to the early local archaeolo-
gists represented a temple of Janus, an example of which
style of building also has been located by others in the
neighbourhood of the Jewry Wall. Other columns were
discovered near Wyggeston's Hospital, Cank Street, Sarah
Street, Blue Boar Lane, Cherry Orchard. A small figure
carved in a niche with head and arm holding a spear was
found in Town Hall Lane, which is perhaps the only
example of its kind extant so far as local finds are con-
cerned. In these columns we doubtless have remains of
the local Forum with its basilica and other public buildings,
and from their frequency on either side of the High Street,
doubtless the pavements found once formed the entrance
halls or courtyards of the more important houses lining the
Via Principalis.

The discovery of other remnants of floors of rubble and
pebbles cemented together, of wells, of sewers, especially
one running east and west, and the finding of both bricks
or floor-tiles (as those near the Jewry Wall and Horsefair
Street, and in the Abbey Meadow), all point to permanence
of occupation. Many of these floor-tiles bear marks of the
impress of the Roman sandal, or of pigs’ and other animals’
feet. The existence of dal/nea or baths and hypocausts of

1 On one of these an inscription occurs, probably %}%E]I){.PC
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private dwellings is rendered certain by the number of flue-
tiles discovered, as, for instance, in the remains of a Roman
wall found at Talbot Lane, at the Cherry Orchard, High
Cross Street, the Jewry Wall, and Silver Street. On one
from High Cross Street the words PRIMUS FECIT have
been scrawled, probably with a comb-like object. The roof-
tiles of Roman buildings were of two kinds, the #gw/a or
flat roof-tile and the zmbrex or ridge-tile. Of the former
the most interesting probably of any object found in
Leicester—except, perhaps, the Roman milliare from Thur-
maston—is a tile from the Grey Friars, stamped IIIVK,
presumably indicating that the 8th legion was stationed at
Leicester.

Doubts have been thrown upon the evidence afforded
by this tile, and it has even been suggested that it really
was intended for VIIIL. (or IX.), but an examination
of the tile at once disposes of any such supposition, as
the impress is perfect, and unless we assume that the
maker or artist, either by accident or design, carved upon
his rough wooden block for the stamp VIIIA, instead of
IX)\, we are forced to admit that this tile presents the
sole authority for the presence of the 8th legion in Britain.
The late Thomas Wright, an antiquary of established
repute, notes that originally four legions were stationed in
Britain, viz. the 2nd, gth, 14th, and 20th. The 14th crossed
over to assist Vespasian, the military favourite in his day,
to obtain the purple. Tacitus tells us the gth legion was
engaged in the campaign against Galgacus in 83 A.D., and
was then practically annihilated, after having been pre-
viously nearly cut to pieces by Boadicea. On Hadrian’s
arrival he brought the 6th legion. Ptolemy states that
the 2nd was then stationed at Isca (Caerleon), the 6th at
Eboracum (York), and the 2oth at Deva (Chester). Similar
inscriptions upon tiles testifying to the presence of the 2nd
and 2oth legions have been discovered in Wales.

At the end of the second century the legions stationed
in Britain, or part of them, doubtless reinforced Albinus in
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his claims for the imperial throne. The form of the letter
M is that in use in the third century, and the two legions
mentioned (g9th and 14th) returned to Britain, but we do
not know whether they were strengthened by another to
make up for the loss of the gth.

Indeed, Wright! makes the following statement about
this tile :—

¢“ It may be further remarked that the peculiar character of this monument
of the eighth legion has its significance. A mere tablet might have implied
simply that the legion in its march had halted to raise or repair some work of
defence; but a tile, and that a roof-tile, marked with the name of a legion,
shows that the soldiers were employed in erecting buildings of a different
character, and those buildings were most probably for their own accommoda-
tion. They were, in all probability, barracks. The tile thus furnishes strong

evidence that the eighth Roman legion was stationed for some time at Ratae,
or Leicester, probably at some period in the third century.”

Professor I. Haverfield writes (¢% /7zt.) as to this: “ The
AVIII. tile would naturally mean that the 8th legion made
the tile by the hands of its legionary brickmakers. But
as it is not easy to find a time when this can have occurred,
it is better not to be dogmatic either for or against the
idea. It is possible that the tile is merely numbered 58,
but this does not at present seem to me so likely as I once
thought it.” Absence of data to the contrary or negative
evidence is never so strong as positive evidence. We have
here a tile bearing a number and a Greek character similar
in kind and form to those indicating (and accepted as
indicating) the existence of the other legions in Britain;
and if this kind of evidence is utilised in the one case,
it must, logically, be used in every other—unless good
reason exist against it in any one case; but, so far as I am
aware, there is none.

Unless, indeed, we lend credence to this memorial we
are faced with the fact that the whole of central Britain,
and more particularly the junction of the two important
roads at Ratae, was without a garrison of Roman soldiers.

1 The Intellectual Observer, vol. ii., 1862, p. 182.
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Further evidence of Roman buildings is exhibited in the
finding of roof-tiles in Talbot Lane, High Cross Street,
Horsefair Street, and at Rothley, a villa residence outside
Leicester, where roofing-slates have also been discovered.
And where floor or roofing materials occur we likewise
find drain-pipes or sewer-pipes. Stucco, plaster, painted
frescoes, mortar, &c., are likewise recovered from the ruins,
of the luxurious, probably populous, and well-regulated
Roman station at Ratae.

Perhaps more frequent in occurrence—either in frag-
ments, or, more rarely, whole and intact—are the remains
of the different types of pottery. Amongst these we may
at once recognise the funereal black ware called Upchurch
ware, in which occasionally occur burnt bones ; and, doubt-
less, the majority of the vessels of this class were used,
like the beautiful green glass jars, as cinerary urns to con-
tain cremated remains of the dead. In some cases boars’
tusks pierced for suspension have also been discovered
deposited in these urns. More elegant, because lighter in
colour, and painted or covered with white slip, are the
different examples of Castor ware. On these inscriptions
occasionally occur, e.g. MEXI VI, &c.

Of the Samian ware or ‘‘ terra sigillata ” manufactured
in Gaul much is of the La Graufesenque type, made during
the first century, and many potters’ marks borne on others
indicate that they are later, or of the second century; or of
Lezoux type; and belonging to the same century are others
of Rheinzabern fabric. Some of this is plain, some em-
bossed, or ornamented with figures of the ivy, the vine,
animals of the chase, or human figures.

Examples of what is called Salopian ware, whitish
pottery with painted red ornament, are also found. Rims
of mortaria, often stamped with the mark of the potter,
frequently testify again to the versatile character of Roman
art. Large amphore, of which handles are often found,
suggest that the wines used were probably imported from

Spain or Italy, the liquid being stored in these large clay
F
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receptacles before being poured into the ampulle or
decanters for table use. Sometimes the painted Salopian
vessels were artistically moulded, the necks of some repre-
senting human heads.

Evidence of the following of the gladiatorial profession
is romantically bequeathed to us in the form of a piece of
Samian ware, found in Bath Lane, scratched with the
legend, “ VERECUNDA LYDIA LVCIVS GLADIATOR.”
Doubtless this was a love-token or pledge given by Lucius
to his sweetheart Verecunda Lydia, perhaps on the eve ot
a contest or the morrow following a victory. It is pierced
or suspension round the neck.!

In another example, consisting of a portion of a glass
vessel, perhaps a drinking-cup, found in North Bond Street,
figures of gladiators with an inscription are represented,
modelled upon the surface of the cup. The gladiators are
armed with weapons used in contests in the arena—helmet,
shield, short sword, and greaves. One is prostrate. The
words inscribed are: “. ... VS.SPICVLVS COLVMBVS
CALM . ..” and denote perhaps the names of those engaged
in contest.

These two examples show that Roman manners and
customs were usual in Britain, and doubtless their practice
influenced the indigenous population. At least we may
presume that, during the period of peaceful occupation, the
Romans resorted to their national sports and pastimes,
and perhaps we may also regard it as possible that the
causes leading to the decline and fall of the empire in-
fluenced to some extent the people tributary to them. At
any rate, when a second invasion by northern jutes, Angles,
and Saxons took place, little opposition was given to their
advances.

‘We may learn, perhaps, more of the highly advanced
nature of the Roman culture and state of civilisation from
the character of the implements, utensils, and ornaments,

! This object is now in Leicester Museum.
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manufactured in bronze, than from any other source.
Locally we find numerous examples, discovered from time
to time on the site of Roman Ratae—chiefly in the same
localities from which the highly interesting and imposing
relics of architectural grandeur are unearthed.

Some of these may be enumerated, in order to give an
idea of the variety of design, &c. A bronze spatula was
found in Sycamore Lane. S#y/;, used for writing upon
waxed tablets of thin wood, have been discovered in Marble
Street, Royal Arcade, and during excavations for the Great
Central Railway. At the last locality a sfafera or steel-
yard was discovered, which closely resembles in design and
principle the modern form. Evidence of the manufacture
of metal objects on the spot is afforded by crucibles at
Silver Street, Abbey Street, Belgrave Gate, &c. One con-
tained a lump of bronze, another a cake of lead, and bronze.
Spoons of bronze are of frequent occurrence, those termed
cochlearia being used, as the technical name implies, for
picking snails, &c., out of their shells.

¢ Sum cochleis habilis, sed nec minus utilis ovis,
Numquid scis potius cur cochleare vocer?”
—MARTIAL, Ep. xvi. L. 121,

Another class of spoons (/zgulz), of which examples
have been found at Butt Close, was perhaps used for
extracting ointments out of narrow-necked bottles.

Table ornament is represented by sockets for candle-
sticks or candelabra, found in the Royal Arcade and High
Cross Street. Handles of other bronze ornaments also
occur, most of elegant design. Needles and pins, some-
times with ornamental heads, occur frequently. But
perhaps of more general occurrence than any of the fore-
going are the fibul@ or brooches for personal wear, which
are common to almost every site where Roman objects
have been discovered in Leicester. Some are enamelled,
and many are provided with a safety-pin for attachment
analogous to the modern pattern. Some of them are
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ring-shaped, and resemble the present strap-buckles. Orna-
ments of diverse pattern for attachment to a pendant may
occasionally be found, and bronze chains have been dis-
covered with attached pendants at Bond Street and
Sycamore Lane. A brass bell, like a mediaeval mule-
bell, was found at the last locality. A bronze boss or
umbo, ornamented with a human figure, was recovered
near the Militia Armoury. In levelling the road close to
the old London Road Tollgate in 1853, more than one
hundred skeletons were unearthed, confusedly interred,
and with them coins of Antoninus (138-161 A.D.), portions
of circular brooches, and two tubes of bronze were dis-
covered. Possibly we have here the only proof of some
local affray or encounter between the conquering and the
conquered race. A mask-shaped ornament, with the re-
presentation of a grotesque human face, was found at the
Newarke Bridge, and a similar one at the back of the
Friars. At the Cherry Orchard a bronze bust of Jupiter,
one of the household gods, was found. An ornament, in-
tended to represent a cock or hen, was found near the
Jewry Wall, and heads of the ox and eagle near the Royal
Arcade; so that zoomorphic ornament figures in Roman
art as well as in the work of both earlier and later crafts-
men in bronze. A small bronze bust of a woman was
discovered in Red Cross Street. Rivets or studs, much
like modern sleeve-links, also occur. Armlets have been
unearthed in Castle Street and elsewhere. A bronze ring
fitted with a key was found at Blackfriars, and bronze
rings of simple type at other places. A silver ring, fitted
with an engraved cornelian stone, and a smelting-pot have
been found in Silver Street.

Iron objects are rare, and they are generally confined
to implements or weapons. A pair of shears has been
found in Leicester, and knives and spear-heads at Rothley,
Leicester Cemetery, and Barrow-on-Soar.

Stone was used for spindle-whorls, as in an example
found at Butt Close. A stamp of thin stone with the words
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C. PAL. GRACILIS, used for stamping preparations of
eye-lotion, was discovered at a depth of 10 feet at High
Cross Street. A stone bead, perhaps a spindle-whor], and
a stone counter were found at the Royal Arcade.

Wooden objects are of very rare occurrence, only the
carved leg of a chair, and a pair of lignite bracelets—the
latter found with a human skeleton in Western Road, the
former at Rothley—serve to mark the use of this material.

Bone was principally used for the manufacture of pins,
needles, skewers, whistles, flutes, knife-handles, counters,
dice, combs, spoons, mallet-heads. At Butt Close Lane
many years ago a number of bone objects were found
above a wattled well, amongst others a whistle, and the
teeth of the dog and wild boar pierced for suspension,
and Sir A. W. Franks compared them with some found
at Settle in Yorkshire. Upon the articles of bone a
characteristic ornament, consisting of a series of circles
varying in number, with a dot for the centre of each,
arranged in geometrical patterns, with or without divisional
lines, is found both in Roman articles and in similar bone
combs, &c., used by the natives of Central Africa living
upon the shores of Lake Tanganyika.

Mortars or querns of millstone grit or syenite are fre-
quently found, perhaps more often outside the town of
Leicester than within the presumed boundary of the Roman
town.

Coffins and a cist of lead of Roman age similar to the
modern shell have been found, and others of stone, on the
site of Roman Leicester.

Turning to the other settlements or stations in the
surrounding country districts, we see clearly that the more
important ones are more or less naturally situated upon
the line of the great Roman highways, which latter being
doubtless partly Celtic roads, adapted to Roman use, were
also on or near the earlier Celtic settlements.

Thus upon the Watling Street there was Tripontium
or Caves Inn, Venonz or High Cross, Manduessedum
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(Mancetter) or Witherley, and upon the Gartree Road,
Medbourne, whilst north of Ratae there was Verometum
or Willoughby.

Close to the latter is Six Hills, where a Roman mile-
stone was found with the words IMP. roughly discernible,
and perhaps below we may make out CS with indica-
tions below the latter of N or H. But the stone is only
rudely smoothed and bears evidence of hasty treatment.
With the exception of the last locality, the foregoing sites
denote a more or less permanent state of settlement. Both
Burton and Camden speak of bulky architectural remains
being discovered at High Cross, and many coins have been
found there, as elsewhere, but these do not imply occupa-
tion. A very fine pavement was discovered at Medbourne
in 1721, and at Witherley stone-work is mentioned by
Stukeley as having been discovered. At Shawell near
Caves Inn, pottery and bricks, &c., were unearthed.

Tessellated pavements or floors of rubble have been
discovered at Barrow-on-Soar (where numbers of pieces of
pottery, glass, iron lamps, spear-heads, coins, &c., were dis-
coveredin 1867 and 1874),and at Nether Broughton, Rothley,
Saltby, Sapcote, Westcotes, Wymondham, and doubtless
villas existed at these places, as well as at Croft, Hallaton,
Kibworth Harcourt (where a cist was found), Market
Harborough, Moira (where a paved roadway was found),
Mountsorrel, Ratby, Waltham-on-the-Wolds, Wanlip, and
Wymondham. There is little evidence of any Roman villa
at Burrough-on-the-Hill or at Hungarton. Rothley, Mount-
sorrel, and Barrow-on-Soar have afforded the best proof of
the existence of permanent villas so far, and nearer Leices-
ter the Roman sites at Westcotes and Danett’s Hall. At
these places the remains found are mainly such as have
occurred within the precincts of Ratae itself. But weapons
of iron were found at Barrow-on-Soar and at Rothley, and
the unique hanging iron lamps at Barrow and the perfect
cinerary urns of glass from the same locality are of the
greatest interest, as well as the large amphora, 2 feet in
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LEICESTERSHIRE IN ANGLO-SAXON
TIMES

By A. R. HORwoOD

tion preserved in the Anglo-Saxon Chronicle, the

works of Gildas and Bede, and later fragments
dealing with the Anglo-Saxon period, yet, in so far as
Leicestershire is concerned, we have only a few isolated
chronological data relating to these times.

In 547 a section of the Teutonic element in North Ger-
many landed in Bernicia. They appear to have mobilised
at the mouth of the Humber, and reached Leicester about
550 A.D., travelling along the Trent and Soar valleys.
The various Teutonic peoples who came to England in
different waves of immigration were united by a common
treaty, and traces of their industry in England are col-
lectively described as Anglo-Saxon, as it is not possible
always to assign relics of their handiwork to any particular
section of the races that have together combined to con-
solidate (with later Danish and Norman influence) the
Teutonic element in our English nation, its language, and
its customs.

When the Heptarchy was formed, Leicestershire was
included in Mercia, and Leicestershire was known as Legre-
ceastre, being the principal city in that kingdom, and in
586 Crida was its first Saxon king.

Roman rule had caused British art and civilisation to
stagnate—where the people were not Romanised, as they

never really were in the rural districts—the same effect
88

ﬁ LTHOUGH there is much reliable historical informa-
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continued under the Saxon occupation for practically one
hundred and fifty years after the first Teutonic invasion.

But the introduction of Christianity among the Saxons
by missionaries, led by St. Augustine in 597, marks the
commencement of a new era, and from that time onward,
wherever the new religion replaced the pagan superstitions,
progress was made both in the civil and political life of the
nation.

Leicestershire in Anglo-Saxon times is known to us
almost exclusively from its ecclesiastical history. Thus
we find that Christianity was introduced at Repton in
653 when Peada married the daughter of Oswy, King of
Northumbria, and in the year 658 a church, the forerunner
of St. Margaret’s, was said to have been standing in
Leicester, as well as a bishop's residence. Whether this
be true or not, the kingdom was certainly divided into
bishoprics before 680 by Ethelred, who succeeded Wulf-
here in 675, and, according to William of Malmesbury,
Cuthwin was Bishop of Leicester and Lichfield in 679,
being the first bishop, and he was followed in turn by
Saxwulfe.

Leicester, after being separated from Lichfield as a
bishopric for a while, was reunited in 691, and after
another separation was again combined with it in 703.
A monastery existed at Breedon in 731, and Tatwine,
one of its priests, subsequently became Archbishop of
Canterbury.

Ceoldred was the last Bishop of Leicester, and it was
in his time that Burhed, King of Mercia, was defeated
by the Danes, who had made Repton their first chief
stronghold, in 874. Leicester thus became one of the
Danish “burghs,” a fact possibly perpetuated in the
locality Dane! Hills in Leicester, and by innumerable
hamlets with names ending in -dy, &c., all over the
county. Freeman divided the Danish influence upon

! Said also to be a variant of Dune, the hills being composed of a sand-
stone weathering down to sand,
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England into three periods: (@) Plunder (789-855); (&)
Settlement (855-897); (¢) Political conquest (897-1016).
It is certainly to the second period that the Danish
places referred to are to be assigned. Leicester was,
in fact, attacked by the Danes in 868, and, according
to many old writers, we find the walls of the Castle
were caid to have been added to in 9oy, and other
fortifications were constructed in 914. It should be re-
marked here that though the history of the county under
the Danes does not come immediately under our present
scope, yet it must be remembered that the Danes did not
replace or exterminate the Anglo-Saxons, but their leaders
merely in course of time assumed the kingly office, whilst
the two peoples gradually amalgamated.

Leicester, as a royal city, with a Saxon castle, was an
important place. Evidence, in fact, of the existence of a
mint at Leicester, near the North Bridge, is furnished
locally by the finding of a coin of Eadgar (959-975),
and in the year 987 silver pennies of Ethelred II. (978-
1016) were minted in the town, a specimen of this
king’s coin, with the obverse inscribed “ ZADELRED REX
ANGLO,” and the reverse “ SPEGEN. M°O. LEIG,” being
preserved in the Leicester Museum. That the Danes,
moreover, long continued to occupy the town is suggested
by the discovery of another silver penny of Canute (1016~
1035) minted there also, and likewise in the same collec-
tion, inscribed “CNVT REX ANGLO” on the obverse side,
and on the reverse ‘ LEOFSIGE. ON L. EIECE.”

The real history of the Anglo-Saxouns, if taken exclu-
sively before their fusion with the native population, and
later with the Danes, relates to their early expeditions and
settlements in the sixth and seventh centuries. At least
our evidences of their handiwork—if we exclude architec-
tural remains—is principally confined to those centuries.

We may refer to some remarks made by Mrs. Fielding
Johnson as to the Saxon city and inhabitants, before
briefly describing the remains of Anglo-Saxon pagandom
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in Leicestershire. After alluding to the early Saxon age of
the churches of St. Margaret, St. Mary, St. Nicholas, St.
Martin, upon the site of the present later edifices, this
author writes:!—

‘“ The Anglo-Saxon city, although enclosed within the ancient and massive .
walls erected by the Romans, and doubtless embellished by many remaining
portions of important buildings of the later Roman period, was of a more
simple and elementary character than that of its highly civilised predecessors ;
and its probable appearance has been likened to the large and scattered agri-
cultural villages of a century or twoago. The citizens, who now began to take
the name of burgesses, from their burgages or separate little plots of land, dwelt
in small thatched or gabled houses, more or less surrounded by trees; each
household spun and wove its simple clothing, and the tillage of the ground
occupied the time of a large portion of the male inhabitants. The burgesses
were allowed to pasture their cows and horses on a space formerly cleared by
the Romans on the south side of the town, in the district between our present
London and Wigston roads, much of which has remained to this day public
property. On the northern and western sides the thick forest still stretched
almost to the very gate of the town ; and the large herds of swine, which pro-
vided the staple animal food of the people, were daily driven to and fro to
fatten upon its acorns and rough herbage.”

If we had no other source of information as to the
former habitation of this part of the country by the Saxons,
the data supplied by the place-names would alone be amply
sufficient to illustrate their distribution. Though it is diffi-
cult to eliminate the influence of the Danish admixture and
subsequent fusion with the Saxon peoples, there are numer-
ous evidences of the previous predominance of the latter in
the test-words forming suffixes to the names of chiefs or
clans, e.g. -borough, -cote, -croft, -field, -ford, -ham, -ley,
-ton, -well, -worth, &c. Thus we have Burrough, Barrow,
Colborough, Loughborough, Market Harborough, Whad-
borough, denoting settlements upon a hill; Hugglescote,
Huncote, Kimcote, Sapcote, Walcote, and Withcote indi-
cate the sites of Saxon huts or farms, near a wood and
probably of humble character. A small field is designated
by the name Croft, and again by that of Ulverscroft. In
the names Glenfield, Marefield, Markfield we see evidence

Y Glimpses of Ancient Leicester, 1906, pp. 35—36.
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of clearings having been made by our pioneer forefathers,
who at these places felled trees. The passages used by the
people of this time across the brooks and streams, &c., are re-
called in the names Bottesford, Desford, Scalford, and Staple-
ford. The formation of a hamlet,farm, or homestead is handed
down to us in the names Keyham, Lubbenham, Waltham,
Welham, Wykeham, and Wymondham. Bradley, Gumley,
Langley, and other places were favoured by the Saxons with
these names because they possessed sheltered spots or
meadows where the cattle lay. Even if the foregoing and
other suffixes were wanting, in the widely prevalent -ton or
-ington, of which there are over one hundred instances, we
have in Leicestershire ample evidence that at such places
as Thurmaston, Humberston, Hungarton, &c., there were
either fenced plots of ground or enclosures surrounding a
house or farm-house and outbuildings, and later a collection
of houses clustered around a chieftain’s dwelling. The exist-
ence of wellsis clearly shown by the names Barnwell, Bittes-
well, Caldwell, Eastwell, Holwell, Pickwell, Shawell. The
tenancy of upland farms is revealed by the place-names Bag-
worth, Diseworth, Market Bosworth, and Theddingworth.

‘We may now turn our attention to some of the actual
relics of Anglo-Saxon civilisation in Leicestershire, and of
first interest are the remains of weapons, such as the sword,
the spear, knives, and shields.

The sword was only worn by horsemen, and was buried
exclusively with members of the upper classes. When not
found in cemeteries, it may be ascribed to the ceorlas or
churls (freemen). For the burial of a sword with a body
denoted the rank of a thegn (thane) or eorl (earl). It is un-
fortunate that the scabbard of wood and parts of the hilt
are rarely found attached to the blades. Pommels were
often embellished, sometimes with a cross; they are seldom
dug up in excavations. Occasionally the blade was further
ornamented with runic characters and interlaced serpents.
Swords have been discovered locally at Westcotes, Cold
Newton, between Twyford and Burrough Hill, Lowesby,
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Melton Mowbray, and at Rye Hill Close, Glen Parva,
near Barkby, Queniborough, Stapleford (where part of a
pommel was found), and another fragment, possibly the
chape of a sword, was discovered at Bensford Bridge.

The spear was carried by the freemen—when of age—
and this and the javelins or f7ameas constituted the national
arms of the Saxons. They are often found in barrows, and
locally have been obtained at Glen Parva, Burrough-on-the-
Hill, and between there and Twyford, Cold Newton, Melton
Mowbray, Bensford Bridge near Barkby, Sysonby, Staple-
ford, Saxby, Baggrave, near Keyham, and Medbourne. The
number of localities is considerable, and indicates a wider
and more general use of the spear than the sword.

Iron knives are frequently found, being of two kinds,
the large knife (scramasaxe) and the small knife. The
former was probably used by the Saxons at the feast of
Reconciliation, when at a signal from Hengist the Britons
were murdered on a wholesale scale in cold blood. The
large knife is only found in the graves of men, but the
smaller one indifferently in the graves of men, women, and
children. Though generally simple, these knives were
sometimes ornamented with a band of damascene work, or
with the runic alphabet, the letters being inlaid with copper
and silver. Knives have been dug up in Anglo-Saxon
cemeteries at Melton Mowbray and at Burrough-on-the
Hill, at Bensford Bridge and Rothley.

No traces of a battle-axe or francisca, which would
denote Frankish ownership, have been discovered, and they
are rarely unearthed in other districts.

An arrow-head was discovered in a gravel-pit at Cold
Newton, near Lowesby, but beyond this instance there is
no evidence of the use of the bow and arrow in this dis-
trict. But as it was employed in the chase there can be
little doubt that long before the Norman Conquest it had
become a national weapon.

The shield is all the defensive armour we find in graves.
In the poem on Beowulf the wooden portion was called /izd,
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to denote that it was made of the linden-tree or lime. We
only find traces, however, of the iron umbo or boss, which
served as a guard for the hand and was grasped by means
of a handl<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>